

SWEATER CASHMERE FUND

PROSPECTUS

July 28, 2023

Sweater Cashmere Fund (the "Fund") is a Delaware statutory trust that is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, as a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company that operates as an "interval fund."

The Fund's investment objective is to generate long-term capital appreciation primarily through an actively-managed portfolio that provides investors with exposure to private, venture capital investments. In seeking to achieve its investment objective, the Fund primarily will invest over time in the equity securities (*e.g.*, common stock, preferred stock, and equity-linked securities convertible into equity securities) of private, operating growth companies and, to a lesser extent, interests in professionally managed private venture capital funds. For liquidity management or in connection with implementation of changes in asset allocation or when identifying private investments for the Fund during periods of large cash inflows or otherwise for temporary defensive purposes, the Fund may hold a substantial portion of its assets in cash or cash equivalents, liquid fixed-income securities and other credit instruments, publicly-traded equity securities, mutual funds, money market funds, and exchange-traded funds.

The Fund operates as an "interval fund" pursuant to which it will, subject to applicable law, conduct semiannual repurchase offers for 5% of the Fund's outstanding shares ("Shares") at net asset value ("NAV"). Semiannual Share repurchases will occur in the months of February and August each year. The Fund will provide written notification of each repurchase offer to shareholders at least 21 days before the repurchase request deadline (*i.e.*, the date by which shareholders can tender their Shares in response to a repurchase offer), and Shares will be redeemed at the NAV calculated no later than the 14th day (or the next business day if the 14th day is not a business day) after such repurchase request deadline (the "Repurchase Pricing Date"). Repurchase proceeds will be paid to redeeming shareholders, less any early repurchase fee, no later than seven days after the Repurchase Pricing Date. See "Share Repurchases."

The Fund is not required to repurchase Shares at a shareholder's option, and Shares are not exchangeable for interests, shares, or units of any investment of the Fund. Repurchase offers may be oversubscribed, with the result that Fund shareholders may only be able to have a portion of the Shares they tender repurchased. The Fund does not currently intend to list its Shares for trading on any national securities exchange. For this reason, the Shares are not readily marketable. Although the Fund makes semiannual repurchase offers to repurchase a limited portion of its Shares to try to provide some liquidity to shareholders, investors should consider the Shares to be illiquid. See "Risks — Closed-End Fund; Limited Liquidity of Shares; Repurchase Offers Risks" in this prospectus for more information.

Investing in Shares involves certain risks, including the potential loss of the entire principal amount that you invest. See the "Risks" section of this prospectus for more information. You should carefully consider these risks, together with all other information contained in this prospectus, before deciding whether to invest in the Shares.

- The Fund has a very limited operating history. Shares are not listed for trading on any securities exchange, and you should not expect to be able to sell Shares in a secondary market transaction. You should consider Shares of the Fund to be an illiquid investment.
- Shares are not redeemable at the shareholder's option. The Fund will offer to redeem 5% of its outstanding Shares twice each year.

• The Fund has no intention to repurchase Shares outside of these semiannual repurchase offers, and these repurchase offers may be oversubscribed.

Table of Contents

- If you tender your Shares for repurchase as part of a repurchase offer that is oversubscribed (*i.e.*, because more than 5% of the Fund's outstanding Shares are tendered for repurchase), the Fund will redeem only a portion of your Shares.
- Because Shares are not listed on a securities exchange, and the Fund will only offer to redeem 5% of its outstanding Shares twice a year, you should not expect to be able to sell your Shares when and/or in the amount desired, regardless of how the Fund performs. As a result, you may be unable to reduce your exposure to the Fund during any market downturn.
- The Fund is designed for long-term investors. An investment in the Fund may not be suitable for you if you will need the money you invest within a specified timeframe.
- The amount of distributions that the Fund may pay, if any, is uncertain. There is no assurance that the Fund will be able to maintain a certain level of distributions to shareholders. A portion or all of any Fund distributions may consist of a return of capital.
- The Fund may pay distributions in significant part from sources that may not be available in the future and that are unrelated to the Fund's performance, such as from offering proceeds, borrowings, and amounts from the Fund's affiliates that are subject to repayment by investors.
- The Fund's investments may require several years to appreciate in value, and there is no assurance that such appreciation will occur.
- Investing in the Shares may be speculative and involve a high degree of risk, including the potential loss of your entire investment.

The Fund offers its Shares on a continuous basis at an offering price equal to the Fund's then-current NAV per Share.

The Fund is offering its Shares directly, and has not retained an underwriter, dealer manager, or broker-dealer in connection with the offer and sale of its Shares. The minimum initial investment for Shares is currently \$500, with a \$50 minimum for subsequent investments. The Fund may waive or modify these investment minimums from time to time.

	Per Share
Public Offering Price	At current NAV ⁽¹⁾
Initial Sales Charge (Load)	None ⁽²⁾
Proceeds to the Fund (Before Expenses)	Amount invested at current NAV

⁽¹⁾ Shares are offered on a continuous basis at an offering price equal to the Fund's then-current NAV per Share. See "Plan of Distribution and Sweater App" for additional information.

This prospectus sets forth concisely important information about the Fund that you should know before deciding whether to invest in the Shares. Please read this prospectus in its entirety before investing and keep it for future reference. The Fund has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") a statement of additional information dated as of the date of this prospectus, as may be amended ("SAI"), containing additional information about the Fund. The SAI is incorporated by reference in its entirety into this prospectus.

The Fund's SAI, along with its annual, semiannual and quarterly reports, proxy statements, and other information about the Fund filed with the SEC, is available free of charge by contacting us at 2000 Central Ave., Boulder, Colorado

⁽²⁾ Shares are not subject to any initial sales charges.

80301, by calling us toll-free at 1-888-577-7987, or by emailing us at support@sweaterventures.com. The Fund's prospectus, SAI, and annual and semiannual reports are also available for free on our website at www.sweaterventures.com/cashmerefund and through the Sweater mobile application. The Sweater mobile application is available for free through the Apple App Store and Google Play Store. See "Prospectus Summary — Purchasing Shares; Sweater App" and "Plan of Distribution and the Sweater App" in this prospectus for more information about the Sweater mobile application. You may also contact us to request additional information about the Fund and to make shareholder inquiries through the Sweater mobile application or by using the mailing address, telephone number, or email address listed above. The Fund's SAI and other information about the Fund is also available on the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov.

Table of Contents

Neither the SEC nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

You should not construe the contents of this prospectus as legal, tax or financial advice. You should consult with your own professional advisors as to the legal, tax, financial or other matters relevant to the suitability of an investment in the Fund.

The Fund's Shares do not represent a deposit or an obligation of, and are not guaranteed or endorsed by, any bank or other insured depository institution, and are not federally insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Federal Reserve Board, or any other government agency.

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Prospectus Summary	1
Summary of Fund Fees and Expenses	8
Financial Highlights	10
The Fund	12
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	13
Investment Objective, Strategies, and Policies	14
<u>Risks</u>	16
Fund Management	30
Determination of Net Asset Value	32
Plan of Distribution and the Sweater App	37
Share Repurchases	39
Borrowing	42
<u>Distributions</u>	42
Dividend Reinvestment Plan	43
Description of the Fund and its Shares	44
Fund Expenses	45
Tax Matters	46

Certain ERISA Matters	56	
Certain Fund Service Providers	56	
Privacy Notice	57	
i		

Table of Contents

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This is only a summary of certain information contained in this prospectus relating to Sweater Cashmere Fund (the "Fund", "we," "our" or "us"). This summary does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in our shares. You should review the more detailed information contained elsewhere in this prospectus and in the Statement of Additional Information (the "SAI") prior to investing.

The Fund

The Fund is a Delaware statutory trust that is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "Investment Company Act"), as a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company. The Fund operates as an "interval fund" and is making a continuous offering of its shares of beneficial interest ("Shares").

Investment Objective and Strategies

The Fund's investment objective is to generate long-term capital appreciation primarily through an actively-managed portfolio that provides investors with exposure to private, venture capital investments.

The Fund seeks to achieve its investment objective through investing primarily in equity securities (e.g., common stock, preferred stock, and equity-linked securities convertible into equity securities) of private, operating growth companies ("Portfolio Companies") and, to a lesser extent, interests in professionally managed private venture capital funds ("Portfolio Funds"). The Fund may acquire interests in these private investments both directly from the issuer, including through co-investing with unaffiliated venture capital funds and other investors, and from third party holders of these interests in secondary transactions.

For liquidity management or in connection with implementation of changes in asset allocation or when identifying private investments for the Fund during periods of large cash inflows or otherwise for temporary defensive purposes, the Fund may hold a substantial portion of its assets in cash or cash equivalents, liquid fixed-income securities and other credit instruments, publicly-traded equity securities, mutual funds, money market funds, and exchange-traded funds. Due to the nature of the private markets for the types of private equity investments in which the Fund will invest and factors such as the competitive nature of the business of identifying and structuring investments of the types contemplated by the Fund and the limited availability of attractive investment opportunities during certain market cycles, the Adviser expects that it may take up to two years for the Fund to be primarily invested in Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds.

The Fund seeks to invest across varying geographic regions (e.g., North America, Europe, Asia-Pacific, Australia, Africa, and Latin America) and industries, and targets early stage and other high growth potential companies, along with late-stage or so-called "pre-IPO companies." The allocation of the Fund's assets to different strategies and regions will largely depend on the

maturity and depth of the venture-backed market in the applicable strategy or region.

For investments in Portfolio Companies, the Fund expects to generally hold these investments until a liquidity event with respect to the Portfolio Company occurs, such as an initial public offering or a merger or acquisition transaction. However, we may determine to continue to hold the securities of a Portfolio Company after a liquidity event or may sell such securities prior to a liquidity event. Portfolio Funds in which the Fund invests are generally organized as limited liability companies or limited partnerships and typically rely on the exclusions from the definition of an investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act. The Fund will invest no more than 15% of its net assets in Portfolio Funds that rely on the exclusion from the definition of an investment company under Sections 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act.

1

Table of Contents

Investment Adviser

Sweater Industries LLC is the Fund's investment adviser (the "Adviser"). The Adviser is registered as an investment adviser with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the "Advisers Act").

The Adviser is entitled to receive from the Fund a management fee at an annual rate equal to 2.50% of the Fund's average daily calculated net asset value ("NAV"), payable monthly in arrears.

The Fund has entered into an Expense Limitation Agreement pursuant to which the Adviser has agreed to waive its management fee and/or reimburse Fund expenses to the extent necessary so that the Fund's total annual operating expenses (excluding any taxes, interest, brokerage commissions, acquired fund fees and expenses, and extraordinary expenses, such as litigation or reorganization costs, but inclusive of organizational costs and offering costs) ("Operating Expenses") do not exceed 5.90% of the Fund's average daily net assets.

The Adviser is entitled to seek reimbursement from the Fund of management fees waived and/or Fund expenses paid or reimbursed by the Adviser for a period ending three years after such waiver, payment or reimbursement, provided the repayments do not cause the Fund's Operating Expenses to exceed the expense limitation in place at the time the management fees were waived and/or the Fund expenses were paid or reimbursed, or any expense limitation in place at the time the Fund would repay the Adviser, whichever is lower.

This contractual expense limitation will remain in effect through August 15, 2024, unless the Fund's Board of Trustees approves its earlier termination.

Board of Trustees

The Fund's Board of Trustees (the "Board") has overall responsibility for monitoring the Fund's investment program and its management and operations. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Board may delegate any of its rights, powers and authority to, among others, the officers of the Fund, any committee of the Board, or to the Adviser.

Purchasing Shares; Sweater App

In order to open an account with the Fund and purchase Shares, you must first download the Sweater mobile application, which is available through the Apple App Store and Google Play Store (the "App"). The App is free to download and use.

The App provides step-by-step instructions to open a new account and to fund your purchase of Shares. The application process is completed entirely through the App. To open an account and to be able to purchase Shares, you will need to link one of your bank accounts to your App account so that you may use electronic funds transfer from your bank account to buy Shares.

Once this process has been completed, and the Fund has accepted your application for a new account, you may submit orders to buy Shares at any time through the App. However, Share purchases will only be processed on days the New York Stock Exchange is open. In general, you may only purchase and redeem Fund Shares through the App. For more information, please see "Plan of Distribution and the Sweater App."

The minimum initial investment is \$500, with a \$50 minimum for subsequent investments. The Fund may waive or change these minimums in the future.

2

Table of Contents

Use of Proceeds

The Fund will invest the proceeds from the sale of its Shares on an ongoing basis in accordance with the Fund's investment objective and policies (as described in this prospectus), less Fund fees and expenses (including offering and marketing expenses). It is currently anticipated that, due to nature of the private markets for the types of direct equity investments in which the Fund will invest and factors such as the competitive nature of the business of identifying and structuring investments of the types contemplated by the Fund and the limited availability of attractive investment opportunities during certain market cycles, the Fund will be able to invest all or substantially all of the net proceeds according to its investment objective and policies within two years after receipt of the proceeds, depending on the amount and timing of the proceeds available to the Fund as well as the availability of investments consistent with the Fund's investment objective and policies and prevailing market conditions. Pending the investment of the proceeds pursuant to the Fund's investment objective and policies, the Fund expects to invest a substantial portion of the proceeds of the offering in short-term, high quality debt securities, money market securities (including money market funds), cash or cash equivalents, which may impact returns. In addition, the Fund may maintain a portion of the proceeds of the continuous offering of its Shares in cash or cash equivalents, liquid fixed-income securities and other credit instruments, publicly-traded equity securities, mutual funds, money market funds, and exchange-traded funds to meet operational needs and shareholder redemptions. The Fund may be prevented from achieving its investment objective during any time in which the Fund's assets are not substantially invested in Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds.

Distributions; Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Because the Fund intends to qualify annually as a regulated investment company (a "RIC") under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), the Fund intends to distribute at least 90% of its annual net

taxable income, if any, to its shareholders. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that the Fund will pay distributions to shareholders at any particular rate.

Shareholders will automatically have all Fund dividends and distributions reinvested in Shares of the Fund in accordance with the Fund's dividend reinvestment plan, unless a shareholder makes an election to receive cash by contacting the Fund's Administrator and dividend reinvestment agent, UMB Fund Services, Inc. All correspondence concerning the Fund's dividend reinvestment plan, including notice of the shareholder's election not to participate in the dividend reinvestment plan, should be directed to the Fund's Administrator in writing at the following mailing address: Sweater Cashmere Fund c/o UMB Fund Services, Inc., PO Box 2175, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201-2175. Please see "Reinvestment Plan" below for additional information.

If you elect to receive dividends in cash, the Fund will typically transfer any Fund dividends through electronic funds transfer to the bank account you have linked to your Fund account through the App (although we may ask you to confirm your bank account information through the App before sending any cash dividends).

3

Table of Contents

Periodic Repurchase Offers; Early Repurchase Fee

The Fund is not a liquid investment. No shareholder will have the right to require the Fund to repurchase the shareholder's Shares.

The Fund is an interval fund and, as such, has adopted a fundamental policy requiring it to make semiannual (twice a year) repurchase offers pursuant to Rule 23c-3 of the Investment Company Act. Each semiannual repurchase offer will be for 5% of the Fund's outstanding Shares at NAV (unless such offer is suspended or postponed in accordance with applicable law, as described below in "Share Repurchases — Suspension or Postponement of Repurchase Offers").

Semiannual Share repurchases will occur in the months of February and August each year. The Fund will provide written notification of each repurchase offer to shareholders at least 21 days before the repurchase request deadline (*i.e.*, the date by which shareholders can tender their Shares in response to a repurchase offer) (the "**Repurchase Request Deadline**"). The Fund's NAV will be calculated no later than the 14th day (or the next Business Day (as defined below) if the 14th day is not a Business Day) after the Repurchase Request Deadline. Payment for Shares repurchased pursuant to these offers will be made no later than seven days after the repurchase pricing date. Redemption proceeds will typically be sent by electronic funds transfer to the bank account the shareholder has linked through the App, although we may ask you to confirm your bank account information through the App before sending your redemption proceeds.

The App will provide instructions for submitting repurchase requests. All repurchase requests must be submitted through the App by the applicable Repurchase Request Deadline. See "Share Repurchases" for additional information.

If a repurchase offer is oversubscribed and the Fund determines not to repurchase additional Shares beyond the 5% repurchase offer amount, or if shareholders tender an amount of Shares greater than that which the Fund is entitled to purchase, the Fund will repurchase the Shares tendered on a *pro rata* basis, and shareholders will have to wait until the next repurchase offer to submit another repurchase request.

A shareholder who tenders some but not all of its Shares for repurchase will be required to maintain a minimum Fund account balance of \$500. If your account falls below \$500 as a result of a repurchase request, we may redeem your entire account. This minimum may be changed or waived by the Board. Please see "Share Repurchases — Minimum Account Balance" below for additional information.

If you tender Shares and the Fund repurchases those Shares within 545 days (approximately 18 months) following the purchase date, you will generally pay an early repurchase fee according to the following schedule:

Days after purchase	185	365	545	546 or more
Charge	2.0%	1.5%	0.5%	0.0%

4

Table of Contents

The early repurchase fee will be based on the value of the Shares redeemed. Shares tendered for repurchase will be treated as having been repurchased on a "first in-first out" basis. The Fund will not charge an early repurchase fee on Shares acquired through the Fund's dividend reinvestment plan. In addition, the Fund may waive an early repurchase fee otherwise payable by a shareholder in circumstances where the Board determines that doing so is in the best interests of the Fund. See "Share Repurchases — Early Repurchase Fee" below for additional information.

Unlisted Closed-End Fund

The Fund's Shares are not listed on any securities exchange and you should not expect to be able to sell Shares in a secondary market transaction regardless of how the Fund performs. The Fund is designed for long-term investors and an investment in the Shares, unlike an investment in a traditional exchange-listed closed-end fund, should be considered illiquid.

An investment in Shares is not suitable for investors who need access to the money they invest. Unlike shares of open-end funds (commonly known as mutual funds), which generally are redeemable on a daily basis, the Shares are not be redeemable at an investor's option. And, unlike traditional listed closed-end funds, the Shares are not listed on any securities exchange. You should consider your investment goals, time horizon, and risk tolerance before purchasing Shares.

Because the Shares are not listed on any securities exchange and are not expected to be traded in the secondary market, shareholders will not be able to dispose of their investment in the Fund except through the Fund's semiannual repurchase offers, which may be oversubscribed. Accordingly, you should consider that you may not be able to sell Shares when and/or

in the amount that you desire and therefore may not have access to the funds you invest in the Fund for an indefinite period of time.

Fund Administrator

The Fund has retained UMB Fund Services, Inc. (the "Administrator") to provide it with certain administrative, fund accounting, and transfer agent services. The Administrator also serves as the Fund's dividend reinvestment agent. The Fund compensates the Administrator for these services and reimburses the Administrator for certain of its out-of-pocket expenses.

Taxes

The Fund has elected to qualify each year to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. So long as it qualifies as a RIC, the Fund generally will not have to pay corporate level U.S. federal income taxes on any ordinary income or capital gains that the Fund distributes to holders of its Shares as dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes. For the Fund to continue to qualify as a RIC, the Fund must, among other things, meet source-of-income, asset diversification, and distribution requirements. Fund dividends generally will be characterized as ordinary dividend income or capital gains to the shareholders, whether or not they are reinvested in Shares. A portion of the Fund's dividends may be eligible for the reduced U.S. federal income tax rates applicable to "qualified dividend income" for individuals and the dividends received deduction for corporations. The Fund will inform shareholders of the amount and character of its distributions to shareholders. A shareholder that is exempt from federal income tax on its income generally will not be subject to tax on amounts distributed to it by the Fund, provided that such shareholder's acquisition of its Shares is not debt-financed within the meaning of section 514 of the Code.

Table of Contents

For the purpose of satisfying certain of the requirements for qualification as a RIC, the Fund may be required to "look through" to the character of the income, assets and investments held by certain Portfolio Funds and Portfolio Companies in which the Fund has acquired an interest that are classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes. However, Portfolio Funds generally are not obligated to disclose the contents of their portfolios. This lack of transparency may make it difficult for the Adviser to monitor the sources of the Fund's income and the diversification of its assets, and otherwise comply with Subchapter M of the Code, and ultimately may limit the universe of Portfolio Funds in which the Fund can acquire an interest. Furthermore, although the Fund expects to receive information from each Portfolio Fund regarding its investment performance on a regular basis, in most cases there is little or no means of independently verifying this information.

If the Fund fails to qualify as a RIC or fails to distribute an amount generally at least equal to 90% of the sum of its net ordinary income and net shortterm capital gains to shareholders in any taxable year, the Fund would be subject to tax as an ordinary corporation on its taxable income (even if such income and gains were distributed to its shareholders) and all distributions out of earnings and profits to shareholders would be characterized as ordinary dividend income. In addition, the Fund could be required to

recognize unrealized gains, pay taxes and make distributions (which could be subject to interest charges) before requalifying for taxation as a RIC.

Fiscal and Tax Year

The Fund's fiscal year for financial reporting purposes is the 12-month period ending on March 31. The Fund's taxable year is the 12-month period ending September 30 (or such other taxable year as may be required under the Code).

Principal Risk Considerations

An investment in the Fund involves a high degree of risk and may be considered speculative. You should carefully consider the information found in the "Risks" section of this prospectus before deciding to purchase Shares. The following is a discussion of certain of the risks of investing in the Fund.

• The Fund commenced operations on April 14, 2022 and has a very limited operating history. The Adviser expects that it may take up to two years for the Fund to become primarily invested in Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds. Fund performance may be lower during this "ramp-up" period, and may also be more volatile, than would be the case after the Fund is more fully invested. If the Fund were to fail to successfully implement its investment strategies or achieve its investment objective, performance may be negatively impacted, and any resulting liquidation of the Fund could create negative transaction costs for the Fund and tax consequences for investors. There can be no assurance that the Fund will be able to identify, structure, complete and realize upon investments that satisfy its investment objective, or that it will be able to fully invest its offering proceeds.

6

Table of Contents

- The Adviser was recently formed and has no prior experience managing investment portfolios. The Adviser may be unable to successfully execute the Fund's investment strategy or achieve the Fund's investment objective.
- There is no public market for Fund Shares and none is expected to develop. Shares are subject to substantial restrictions on transferability. Although the Fund makes semiannual offers to repurchase its Shares (expected to be limited to no more than 5% of the Fund's outstanding Shares for each such offer), these offers may be oversubscribed and there is no guarantee that you will be able to sell all of the Shares you desire in any semiannual repurchase offer.
- While venture capital investments offer the opportunity for significant gains, these investments also involve an extremely high degree of business and financial risk and can result in substantial losses. Investments in start-up and growth-stage private companies typically involve greater risks than investments in shares of companies that have traded publicly on an exchange for extended periods of time.

- Private companies in which the Fund invests are generally not subject to SEC reporting requirements, are not required to maintain accounting records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and are not required to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting.
- The Fund's investments in Portfolio Companies may be heavily negotiated and may incur significant transactions costs for the Fund.
- Substantially all of the Fund's investment portfolio will be illiquid
 investments recorded at fair value as determined in good faith in
 accordance with policies and procedures approved by the Board and,
 as a result, there may be uncertainty as to the value of Fund
 investments and the NAV of Fund Shares.

7

Table of Contents

SUMMARY OF FUND FEES AND EXPENSES

Fees and Expenses

The following table is intended to assist you in understanding the fees and expenses that you should expect to bear, directly or indirectly, if you buy and hold Fund Shares.

None
2.00%
2.50%
13.37%
11.29%
0.15%
27.31%
(21.26)%
6.05%

⁽¹⁾ A 2.00% early repurchase fee payable to the Fund applies to Shares tendered to and repurchased by the Fund within the first 185 days the shareholder held the Shares. This early repurchase fee is phased out over 545 days.

⁽²⁾ Marketing Expenses and Other Expenses are based on estimated amounts for the Fund's current fiscal year ending March 31, 2024. Marketing Expenses include, but are not limited to, all initial and ongoing marketing expenses of the Fund. Other Expenses include, but are not limited to, custody, transfer agency and administration, accounting, legal, and auditing fees of the Fund.

⁽³⁾ Includes fees and expenses of the Portfolio Funds in which the Fund is already invested and expects to invest. The 0.15% figure shown as "Acquired Fund Fees and Expenses" reflects operating expenses of these Portfolio Funds — including management fees, administration fees and professional and other direct, fixed fees and expenses of the Portfolio Funds — but does not include any performance based fees or allocations paid by Portfolio Funds that are calculated solely on realization and/or distributions of gains (e.g., so-called "carried interest"), or on the sum of such gains and unrealized appreciation of assets distributed in kind, as such fees and allocations for a particular period may be unrelated to the cost of investing in the

- Portfolio Funds. The Portfolio Funds in which the Fund invests generally charge an annual management fee of 0.00% to 3.50%, and approximately 20% of net profits as a carried interest allocation (the carried interest allocation is not reflected in the Acquired Fund Fees and Expenses figure provided above). The Acquired Fund Fees and Expenses disclosed above are based on historic returns of the Portfolio Funds in which the Fund already invests and expects to invest, which may change substantially over time and, therefore, significantly affect Acquired Fund Fees and Expenses.
- (4) The Adviser has contractually agreed to waive its management fee and/or reimburse Fund expenses to the extent necessary so that the Fund's total annual Operating Expenses (which exclude any taxes, interest, brokerage commissions, acquired fund fees and expenses, and extraordinary expenses, such as litigation or reorganization costs, but inclusive of organizational costs and offering costs) do not exceed 5.90% of the Fund's average daily net assets. The Adviser is entitled to seek reimbursement from the Fund of management fees waived and/or Fund expenses paid or reimbursed by the Adviser for a period ending three years after such waiver, payment or reimbursement, provided the repayments do not cause the Fund's Operating Expenses to exceed the expense limitation in place at the time the management fees were waived and/or the Fund expenses were paid or reimbursed, or any expense limitation in place at the time the Fund would repay the Adviser, whichever is lower. This contractual expense limitation will remain in effect through August 15, 2024, unless the Board approves its earlier termination.

8

Table of Contents

Example

The following examples are intended to help you compare the cost of investing in the Fund with the cost of investing in other funds. Each example assumes that you invest \$1,000 in the Fund's Shares, that your investment has a 5% annual return, and that all Fund dividends and distributions are reinvested in the Fund at NAV. Each example also assumes that the Fund's operating expenses (as described and estimated above) remain the same, except that only the first year of each period in each example takes into account the expense waiver and/or reimbursement described above.

Although your actual costs may be higher or lower, based on these assumptions and assuming you hold all of your Shares at the end of each period, your costs would be:

1 Year	3 Years	5 Years	10 Years
\$60	\$487	\$744	\$1,025

If, at the end of each period, your Shares are repurchased in full by the Fund, your costs would be:

1 Year	3 Years	5 Years	10 Years
\$75	\$487	\$744	\$1,025

These examples should not be considered representations of the Fund's future expenses, and the Fund's actual future expenses may be greater or less than those shown. While the examples assume a 5% annual return, as required by the SEC, the Fund's performance will vary and may result in an annual return greater or less than 5%.

For a more complete description of the various fees and expenses borne directly and indirectly by the Fund, see "Fund Management — Investment Adviser and Management Contract" and "Fund Expenses."

a

Table of Contents

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The financial highlights table is intended to help you understand the Fund's financial performance. Information is shown for the fiscal period beginning April 14, 2022 (the commencement of the Fund's operations) through March 31, 2023. Certain information reflects financial results for a single Share. This information has been audited by RSM US LLP, the Fund's independent registered public accounting firm, whose report, along with the Fund's financial statements, is included in the Fund's Annual Report dated March 31, 2023.

Table of Contents

Sweater Cashmere Fund FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Per share operating performance.
For a capital share outstanding throughout the period.

Total capital share outstanding in oughout the p	r the Period Ending March 31, 2023 ⁽¹⁾
Net asset value, beginning of period	\$ 20.00
Income from Investment Operations:	
Net investment income ⁽²⁾	0.29
Net realized and unrealized gain	0.32
Total from investment operations	0.61
Less Distributions:	
From net investment income	(0.05)
Total distributions	(0.05)
Redemption Fees ⁽²⁾ :	0.02
Net asset value, end of period	\$ 20.58
Total return ⁽³⁾⁽⁴⁾	3.18%
Ratios and Supplemental Data:	
Net assets, end of period (in thousands)	\$ 11,847
Ratio of expenses to average net assets:	
Gross ⁽⁵⁾⁽⁶⁾	30.02%
Net ⁽⁵⁾⁽⁶⁾⁽⁷⁾	0%
Ratio of net investment income (loss) to average net assets:	
Net ⁽⁵⁾⁽⁶⁾⁽⁷⁾	1.47%
Portfolio turnover rate ⁽⁴⁾	0%

⁽¹⁾ Reflects operations for the period from April 14, 2022 (commencement of operations) to March 31, 2023. Prior to the commencement of operations date, the Fund had been inactive except for matters related to the Fund's establishment, designation, and planned registration.

⁽²⁾ Based on average shares outstanding for the period.

⁽³⁾ Based on the net asset value as of period end. Assumes an investment at net asset value at the beginning of the period and reinvestment of all distributions during the period. Returns shown do not include payment of an early repurchase fee for shares redeemed within 545 days of purchase. The return would have been lower if certain expenses had not been waived or reimbursed by the Adviser.

⁽⁴⁾ Not annualized.

⁽⁵⁾ Annualized, with the exception of non-recurring organizational costs.

⁽⁶⁾ The ratios of expenses and net investment income to average net assets do not reflect the Fund's proportionate share of income and expenses of underlying investment companies in which the Fund invests, including management and

- performance fees. As of March 31, 2023, the Fund's underlying investment companies included a range of management fees from 0.00% to 3.50% (unaudited) and performance fees from 0.00% to 20.00% (unaudited).
- (7) Represents the ratios of expenses and net investment income (loss) inclusive of fee waivers and/or expenses reimbursements.

11

Table of Contents

THE FUND

The Fund is a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company that is registered under the Investment Company Act. The Fund is structured as an "interval fund" and continuously offers its Shares at NAV. The Fund was organized as a Delaware statutory trust on June 17, 2021, pursuant to a Certificate of Trust, governed by the laws of the State of Delaware. The Fund's principal office is located at 2000 Central Ave., Boulder, Colorado 80301.

12

Table of Contents

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Fund intends to invest the proceeds of the continuous offering of its Shares, net of expenses (including Fund marketing costs and expenses), in accordance with the Fund's investment objective and strategies as stated below. We anticipate that, due to nature of the private markets for the types of venture capital investments in which the Fund will invest and factors such as the competitive nature of the business of identifying and structuring investments of the types contemplated by the Fund and the limited availability of attractive investment opportunities during certain market cycles, the Fund will be able to invest all or substantially all of the net proceeds according to its investment objective and policies within two years after receipt of the proceeds, depending on the amount and timing of the proceeds available to the Fund as well as the availability of investments consistent with the Fund's investment objective and policies and prevailing market conditions.

Pending the investment of the proceeds pursuant to the Fund's investment objective and policies, the Fund expects to invest a substantial portion of the proceeds of the offering in short-term, high quality debt securities, money market securities, cash or cash equivalents, which may impact returns. In addition, the Fund may maintain a portion of the proceeds of the continuous offering in cash or cash equivalents, liquid fixed-income securities and other credit instruments, publicly-traded equity securities, mutual funds, money market funds, and exchange-traded funds to meet operational needs and shareholder redemptions. The Fund may be prevented from achieving its investment objective during any time in which the Fund's assets are not substantially invested in accordance with its investment strategies.

13

Table of Contents

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE, STRATEGIES, AND POLICIES

The Fund's investment objective is to generate long-term capital appreciation primarily through an actively-managed portfolio that provides investors with exposure to private, venture capital investments. The Fund's investment objective is non-fundamental and may be changed by the Fund's Board without shareholder approval. There can be no assurance that the Fund will achieve its investment objective.

Venture capital is characterized by equity investments in early- through growth-stage startup companies with high growth potential, often in the technology and healthcare sectors. Companies financed by venture capital are generally not cash flow positive at the time of investment and may require several rounds of financing before the company can be sold privately or taken public.

Traditionally, venture capital investments have come largely from accredited "angel" investors or from venture capital firms where accredited investors and institutions pool capital into a professionally managed fund that diversifies

invested capital across a portfolio of companies. Most often, these venture capital funds are privately offered and limited to institutions and high-net-worth individuals.

The Fund is intended to offer all investors an opportunity to gain exposure to a broad range of global venture capital investment opportunities typically only available to institutional investors and high-net-worth individuals.

Investment Strategy

In seeking to achieve its investment objective, under normal circumstances, the Fund primarily will invest over time in the equity securities of start-up and early growth stage companies ("Portfolio Companies") and, to a lesser extent, interests in professionally managed private venture capital funds ("Portfolio Funds"). The Fund may acquire interests in these private investments both directly from the issuer, including through co-investing with unaffiliated venture capital funds and other investors, or from third party holders of these interests in secondary transactions.

For liquidity management or in connection with implementation of changes in asset allocation or when identifying private investments for the Fund during periods of large cash inflows (such as upon the Fund's launch) or otherwise for temporary defensive purposes, the Fund may hold a substantial portion of its assets in cash or cash equivalents, liquid fixed-income securities and other credit instruments, publicly-traded equity securities, mutual funds, money market funds, and exchange-traded funds. Due to the nature of the private markets for the types of private equity investments in which the Fund will invest and factors such as the competitive nature of the business of identifying and structuring investments of the types contemplated by the Fund and the limited availability of attractive investment opportunities during certain market cycles, the Adviser expects that it may take up to two years for the Fund to be primarily invested in Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds.

The Fund's long-term goal is to primarily make direct investments in select Portfolio Companies, where it would invest in a privately negotiated stake in the equity of the Portfolio Company. During the Fund's current ramp-up period, however, the Adviser anticipates that a greater portion of the Fund's investments in Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds will be comprised of interests acquired from third party holders of these interests in secondary transactions.

The Fund will seek to invest across varying geographic regions (e.g., North America, Europe, Asia-Pacific, Australia, Africa, and Latin America) and industries, and target early stage and other high growth potential companies, and to a lesser extent late-stage or so-called "pre-IPO companies." The allocation of the Fund's assets to different strategies and regions will largely depend on the maturity and depth of the venture-backed market in the applicable strategy or region.

The Adviser uses a range of sources to identify Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds for investment. These sources may include scout networks and unaffiliated venture capital investors with whom the Adviser has established relationships. Where appropriate, the Adviser may look for opportunities to invest in Portfolio Companies alongside these other venture capital investors.

The Fund will invest no more than 15% of its net assets in pooled investment vehicles that would be investment companies but for Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act (measured at the time of investment). The Adviser anticipates that all or substantially all of the Portfolio Funds in which the Fund will invest will rely on Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act, and thus the Fund will be limited in its ability to invest in Portfolio Funds.

14

Table of Contents

The Fund May Change Its Investment Strategies, Policies, Restrictions, and Techniques

Except as otherwise indicated and subject to the provisions of the Investment Company Act, the Fund may change any of its policies, restrictions, strategies, and techniques if the Board believes doing so is in the best interests of the Fund and its shareholders.

Fundamental and Non-Fundamental Policies

The SAI contains a list of the fundamental (those that may not be changed without shareholder approval) and non-fundamental (those that may be changed by the Board without shareholder approval) policies of the Fund under the heading "Investment Objective and Policies."

Illiquid Securities

The Fund invests primarily in illiquid securities, including restricted securities (*i.e.*, securities not readily marketable without registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act")) and other securities that are not readily marketable. There is no limit to the percentage of the Fund's net assets that may be invested in illiquid securities.

15

Table of Contents

RISKS

Investing in the Fund involves risks, including the risk that you may receive little or no return on your investment, or that you may lose part or all of your investment. Therefore, you should consider carefully the following principal risks before investing in the Fund. The risks described below are not, and are not intended to be, a complete enumeration or explanation of all of the risks involved in an investment in the Fund and the Shares. Prospective investors should read this entire prospectus and consult with their own advisers before deciding whether to invest in the Fund. The Shares are speculative and illiquid securities involving substantial risk of loss. An investment in the Fund is appropriate only for those investors who do not require a liquid investment, for whom an investment in the Fund does not constitute a complete investment program, and who fully understand and can assume the risks of an investment in the Fund.

Risk Related to our Business and Structure

Limited Operating History. The Fund commenced operations on April 14, 2022 and has a very limited operating history. Accordingly, the Fund has very limited historical financial statements and other operating and financial data on which potential investors may evaluate the Fund and its performance. An investment in the Fund is therefore subject to all of the risks and uncertainties associated with a recently formed business, including the risk that the Fund will not achieve its investment objective and that the value of any potential investment in Shares could decline substantially as a consequence.

The Fund's Adviser was also recently organized, and this is the first investment portfolio managed by the Adviser.

Closed-End Fund; Limited Liquidity of Shares; Repurchase Offers Risks. The Fund is a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company designed for long-term investors. The Fund is neither a liquid investment nor a trading vehicle. You should not invest in the Fund if you need a liquid investment. Closed-end funds differ from open-end management investment companies (commonly known as mutual funds) in that investors in a closed-end fund do not have the right to redeem their shares on a daily basis.

The Fund' Shares are not listed for trading on any securities exchange and are not publicly traded. There is currently no secondary market for the Shares, and you should not rely on any secondary market developing for the Shares. Shares are subject to substantial restrictions on transferability.

Although the Fund makes semiannual offers to repurchase its Shares (each such offer expected to be limited to no more than 5% of the Fund's outstanding Shares), these offers may be oversubscribed and there is no guarantee that you will be able to sell all of the Shares you desire in any semiannual repurchase offer. If a repurchase offer is oversubscribed and the Fund determines not to repurchase additional Shares beyond the repurchase offer amount, or if shareholders tender an amount of Shares greater than that which the Fund is entitled to purchase, the Fund will repurchase the Shares tendered on a pro rata basis, and shareholders will have to wait until the next repurchase offer to make another repurchase request. As a result, shareholders may be unable to liquidate all or a given percentage of their investment in the Fund during a particular repurchase offer. Some shareholders, in anticipation of a repurchase

offer being oversubscribed and subject to proration, may tender more Shares than they wish to have repurchased in a particular semiannual period, thereby increasing the likelihood that proration will occur. A shareholder may be subject to market and other risks, and the NAV of Shares tendered in a repurchase offer may decline between the Repurchase Request Deadline and the date on which the NAV for tendered Shares is determined. Such fluctuations may be exacerbated by currency fluctuations (to the extent the Fund invests in assets denominated in foreign currencies) and other developments. In addition, the repurchase of Shares by the Fund may be a taxable event to shareholders. Additionally, in certain instances, these repurchase offers may be suspended or postponed. See "Share Repurchases."

Semiannual repurchases by the Fund of its Shares typically will be funded from available cash. However, repurchase offers and the need to fund repurchase obligations may affect the ability of the Fund to be fully invested or force the Fund to maintain a higher percentage of its assets in liquid investments, which may harm the Fund's investment performance. In addition, the Fund may be required to sell portfolio securities (including at inopportune times) to satisfy repurchase requests, resulting in increased transaction costs that must be borne by the Fund and its shareholders. The sale of Fund assets to satisfy repurchase requests may also result in higher short-term capital gains for taxable shareholders. Furthermore, diminution in the size of the Fund may limit the ability of the Fund to participate in new

16

Table of Contents

investment opportunities or to achieve its investment objective. If the Fund borrows money to finance repurchases, interest on that borrowing will negatively affect shareholders who do not tender their Shares by increasing Fund expenses and reducing any net investment income.

Non-Diversified Status. The Fund is a non-diversified fund. As defined in the Investment Company Act, a non-diversified fund may have a significant part of its investments in a smaller number of issuers than can a diversified fund. Having a larger percentage of assets in a smaller number of issuers makes a non-diversified fund, like the Fund, more susceptible to the risk that one single event or occurrence can have a significant adverse impact upon the Fund.

Reliance on the Adviser. The Fund has no employees, and instead depends on the investment expertise, skill, and network of business contacts of the Adviser. The Fund's success depends to a significant extent on the continued service and coordination of the Adviser's professionals. The departure of any of the Adviser's professionals could have a material adverse effect on the Fund's ability to achieve its investment objective.

The Fund's ability to achieve our investment objective depends on the Adviser's ability to identify, analyze, invest in, and monitor companies and investments that meet the Fund's investment criteria. The Adviser's capabilities in structuring the investment process and providing competent, attentive and efficient services to the Fund depend on the employment of investment professionals in an adequate number and of adequate sophistication to match the corresponding flow of transactions. To achieve the Fund's investment objective, the Adviser may need to hire, train, supervise and manage new investment professionals to participate in the Fund's investment selection and monitoring process. The Adviser may be unable to find or otherwise hire investment professionals in a timely manner or at all. Failure to support the Fund's investment process could have a material adverse effect on the Fund's business, financial condition and results of operations. The Adviser is not required to devote its full time to the business of the Fund, and there is no guarantee or requirement that any investment professional or other employee of the Adviser will allocate a substantial portion of his or her time to the Fund.

The Fund is currently the Adviser's only significant client. Under the Expense Limitation Agreement, the Adviser is obligated to waive its Management Fee and/or reimburse Fund expenses so that the Fund's total annual operating expenses (excluding certain items) do not exceed 5.90% of the Fund's average daily net asset. Because the Fund is still relatively small, and incurs significant expenses, the amount of Fund expenses that the Adviser is required to pay pursuant to the Expense Limitation Agreement far exceeds the amount of Management Fees received by the Adviser. Accordingly, the Adviser is not currently realizing any profit from its management of the Fund; rather, the Adviser is required to pay out of its own assets a portion of the Fund's expenses pursuant to the Expense Limitation Agreement, and these expenses are substantial. This represents a significant burden to the Adviser and its financial resources. There is no assurance that the Fund will grow to a size, or that Fund expenses will fall to level, that allows the Adviser to realize any profit from managing the Fund. The Adviser's lack of profitability from managing the Fund, including its obligation to pay a portion of Fund expenses, coupled with the Fund being the Adviser's sole significant client,

negatively affects the financial viability of the Adviser and its continued ability to fulfill its obligations to the Fund under the Expense Limitation Agreement and the Fund's management contract with the Adviser.

Offering Risk. The Fund is relatively small. To the extent the Fund is not able to raise sufficient funds through the sale of Shares to grow to a significant extent, the opportunity for the allocation of the Fund's investments among various issuers and industries may be decreased, and the returns achieved on those investments may be reduced as a result of allocating all of the Fund's expenses over a smaller capital base. As a result, the Fund may be unable to achieve its investment objective and an investor could lose some or all of the value of his or her investment in the Shares. In addition, because many of the Fund's expenses are fixed, it is anticipated that shareholders will bear a larger proportionate share of Fund expenses if the Fund does not grow to a significant extent.

Use of Proceeds. The Adviser has significant flexibility in applying the proceeds of the continuous offering of the Fund's Shares, and may use the net proceeds from this offering in ways with which you do not agree, including to market the Fund to other investors, or for purposes other than those contemplated at the time of this offering. There is no assurance that the Adviser will be able to successfully use the proceeds of this offering within the timeframe contemplated. The Adviser will also use the proceeds of this offering to pay the Fund's organizational, offering, marketing, and operating expenses, including due diligence expenses of potential new investments, which are substantial. These Fund expenses will lower the Fund's returns. In addition, there is no guarantee that the Fund's offering of Shares will be successful or that the Fund's expense ratio (which in this prospectus includes several estimates) will decline in future years.

17

Table of Contents

Although the Fund currently intends to invest the proceeds from the sale of its Shares as soon as practicable, such investments may be delayed if suitable investments are unavailable at the time. Delays the Fund encounters in the selection, due diligence and acquisition of investments would likely limit the Fund's ability to pay distributions and lower overall returns.

Expense Risk. The annual Fund expenses shown in the "Summary of Fund Fees and Expenses" section of this prospectus are based largely on estimates for the Fund's current fiscal year, and the actual costs of investing in the Fund may be significantly higher than the estimated Fund expenses shown for a variety of reasons. The Fund has a higher management fee and higher annual operating expenses than most other closed-end funds.

Competition for Investment Opportunities Risk. The Fund competes with other investment companies, investment funds (including private venture capital funds), and institutional investors in making private investments. Many of these competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical, and marketing resources than the Fund. Some competitors may have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are not available to the Fund. In addition, some competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of, or different structures for, private investments than the Fund. The Fund may lose investment opportunities if it is unable to match its competitors' pricing, terms, and structure. Furthermore, many competitors are not registered investment companies and are thus not subject to the regulatory restrictions that the Investment Company Act imposes on the Fund. As a result of this competition, the Fund may not be able to pursue attractive private investment opportunities from time to time.

Other investment funds and special purpose vehicles that the Adviser (or an affiliate of the Adviser) advises, or may advise in the future, may invest in asset classes similar to those targeted by the Fund. As a result, the Adviser and/or its affiliates may face conflicts in allocating investment opportunities between the Fund and these other investment funds. For example, an investment opportunity that is suitable for multiple clients of the Adviser and its affiliates may not be shared among some or all of such clients and affiliates due to the limited scale of the opportunity or other factors, including restrictions imposed by the Investment Company Act or the Fund. Should other funds or special purpose vehicles advised by the Adviser (or an affiliate of the Adviser) invest in asset classes similar to those targeted by the Fund, the Adviser intends to allocate investment opportunities to the Fund in a manner it deems to be fair and equitable over time. However, it is possible that over time the Fund would not be able to participate in certain investments made by affiliated investment funds or special purpose vehicles that it might otherwise have desired to participate in.

Potential Reliance on Projections. In selecting and monitoring Fund investments, the Adviser will from time to time rely upon projections, forecasts or estimates developed by the Adviser or by a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund in which the Fund is invested or is considering making an investment concerning the Portfolio Company's or Portfolio Fund's future performance and cash flow. Projections, forecasts and estimates are forward-looking statements and are based upon certain assumptions. Actual events are difficult to predict and beyond the Fund's control, and may differ materially from those assumed. Some important factors which could cause actual results to differ materially from those in any forward-looking statements include changes in interest rates and domestic and foreign business, market, financial or legal conditions, among others. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that estimated returns or projections can be realized or that actual returns or results for the Fund or its investments will not be materially lower than those estimated or targeted.

Affiliation Risk and Inability to Vote. The Fund may be precluded from investing in certain Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds due to regulatory implications under the Investment Company Act or other laws, rules or regulations, or may be limited in the amount it can invest in the voting securities of a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund, in the size of the economic interest it can have in the company or fund, or in the scope of influence it is permitted to have in respect of the management of the company or fund. Should the Fund be required to treat a Portfolio Company or a Portfolio Fund in which it has invested as an "affiliated person" under the Investment Company Act, the Investment Company Act would impose a variety of restrictions on the Fund's dealings with the Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund. Moreover, these restrictions may arise as a result of investments by future clients of the Adviser or its affiliates in a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund. These restrictions may be detrimental to the performance of the Fund compared to what it would be if these restrictions did not exist, and could impact the universe of investable Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds for the Fund. The fact that many Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds may have a limited number of investors and a limited amount of outstanding equity heightens these risks.

18

Table of Contents

The Fund may be able to avoid a Portfolio Company or a Portfolio Fund being deemed an "affiliated person" of the Fund by owning less than 5% of the voting securities of such Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund. To limit its voting interest in a Portfolio Company or a Portfolio Fund, the Fund may enter into contractual arrangements under which the Fund irrevocably waives its rights (if any) to vote its interests in the Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund. The Fund will not receive any consideration in return for entering into a voting waiver arrangement. These voting waiver arrangements may increase the ability of the Fund and other future clients of the Adviser to invest in certain Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds. However, to the extent the Fund contractually forgoes the right to vote the securities of a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund, the Fund will not be able to vote on matters that require the approval of such Portfolio Company's or Portfolio Fund's investors, including matters where the Fund is disadvantaged by its inability to vote.

There are, however, other statutory tests of affiliation (such as on the basis of control) and, therefore, the prohibitions of the Investment Company Act with respect to affiliated transactions could apply in certain situations where the Fund owns less than 5% of the voting securities of a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund. If a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund is deemed to be an "affiliated person" of the Fund, transactions between the Fund and such Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund may, among other things, potentially be subject to the prohibitions of Section 17 of the Investment Company Act notwithstanding that the Fund has entered into a voting waiver arrangement.

Valuation Risk. The Fund is subject to valuation risk, which is the risk that one or more of the securities in which the Fund invests are valued and held on the Fund's books at prices that the Fund is unable to obtain upon sale due to factors such as incomplete data, market instability, or human error. The Adviser may, but is not required to, use an independent pricing service or prices provided by dealers to value securities at their market value. Because the secondary markets for certain investments may be limited, such instruments may be difficult to value. When market quotations are not available, the Adviser may price such investments pursuant to a number of methodologies, such as computer-based analytical modeling or individual security evaluations. These methodologies generate approximations of market values, and there may be significant professional disagreement about the best methodology for a particular type of financial instrument or different methodologies that might be used under different circumstances. In the absence of an actual market transaction, reliance on such methodologies is essential, but may introduce significant

variances in the ultimate valuation of the Fund's investments. Technological issues and/or errors by pricing services or other third-party service providers may also impact the Fund's ability to value its investments and the calculation of the Fund's NAV.

When market quotations are not readily available or are deemed to be inaccurate or unreliable, the Fund values its investments at fair value as determined in good faith pursuant to policies and procedures approved by the Board. Fair value is defined as the amount for which assets could be sold in an orderly disposition over a reasonable period of time, taking into account the nature of the asset. Fair value pricing may require determinations that are inherently subjective and inexact about the value of a security or other asset. As a result, there can be no assurance that fair value pricing will reflect a price that the Fund is able to obtain upon sale, and it is possible that the fair value determined for a security or other asset will be materially different from quoted or published prices, from the prices used by others for the same security or other asset and/or from the value that actually could be or is realized upon the sale of that security or other asset. For example, the Fund's NAV could be adversely affected if the Fund's determinations regarding the fair value of the Fund's investments were materially higher than the values that the Fund ultimately realizes upon the disposal of such investments. Where market quotations are not readily available, valuation may require more research than for more liquid investments. In addition, elements of judgment may play a greater role in valuation in such cases than for investments with a more active secondary market because there is less reliable objective data available.

A substantial portion of the Fund's assets are expected to consist of securities of private companies for which there are no readily available market quotations. The information available in the marketplace for such companies, their securities and the status of their businesses and financial conditions is often extremely limited, outdated and difficult to confirm. Such securities are valued by the Fund at fair value as determined pursuant to policies and procedures approved by the Board. In determining fair value, the Adviser is required to consider all appropriate factors relevant to value and all indicators of value available to the Fund. The determination of fair value necessarily involves judgment in evaluating this information in order to determine the price that the Fund might reasonably expect to receive for the security upon its current sale. The most relevant information may often be provided by the issuer of the securities. Given the nature, timeliness, amount and reliability of information provided by the issuer, fair valuations may become more difficult and uncertain as such information is unavailable or becomes outdated.

19

Table of Contents

The value at which the Fund's investments can be liquidated may differ, sometimes significantly, from the valuations assigned by the Fund. In addition, the timing of liquidations may also affect the values obtained on liquidation. Securities held by the Fund may trade with bid-offer spreads that may be significant. In addition, the Fund will hold privately placed securities for which no public market exists. There can be no guarantee that the Fund's investments could ultimately be realized at the Fund's valuation of such investments. In addition, the Fund's compliance with the asset diversification tests under the Code depends on the fair market values of the Fund's assets, and, accordingly, a challenge to the valuations ascribed by the Fund could affect its ability to comply with those tests or require it to pay penalty taxes in order to cure a violation thereof.

The Fund's NAV is a critical component in several operational matters including computation of advisory and services fees and determination of the price at which the Shares will be offered and at which a repurchase offer will be made. Consequently, variance in the valuation of the Fund's investments will impact, positively or negatively, the fees and expenses shareholders will pay, the price a shareholder will receive in connection with a repurchase offer and the number of Shares an investor will receive upon investing in the Fund. The Fund may need to liquidate certain investments, including illiquid investments, in order to repurchase Shares in connection with a repurchase offer. A subsequent decrease in the valuation of the Fund's investments after a repurchase offer could potentially disadvantage remaining shareholders to the benefit of shareholders whose Shares were accepted for repurchase. Alternatively, a subsequent increase in the valuation of the Fund's investments could potentially disadvantage shareholders whose Shares were accepted for repurchase to the benefit of remaining shareholders. Similarly, a subsequent decrease in the valuation of the Fund's investments after a subscription could potentially disadvantage subscribing investors to the benefit of pre-existing shareholders, and a subsequent increase in the valuation of the Fund's investments after a subscription could potentially disadvantage pre-existing shareholders to the benefit of subscribing investors. For more information regarding the Fund's calculation of its NAV, see "Determination of Net Asset Value."

Investment Dilution Risk. The Fund's investors do not have preemptive rights to any Shares the Fund may issue in the future. The Fund's Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust ("Declaration of Trust") authorizes it to issue an unlimited number of Shares. The Board may make certain amendments to the Declaration of Trust. After an investor purchases Shares, the Fund expects to sell additional Shares or other classes of Shares in the future or issue equity interests in private offerings. To the extent the Fund issues additional equity interests after an investor purchases its Shares, such investor's percentage ownership interest in the Fund will be diluted.

Legal, Litigation and Regulatory Action Risk. The Fund and the Adviser and their affiliates are subject to a number of unusual risks, including changing laws and regulations, developing interpretations of such laws and regulations, and increased scrutiny by regulators and law enforcement authorities. These risks and their potential consequences are often difficult or impossible to predict, avoid or mitigate in advance, and might make some investments unavailable to the Fund. The effect on the Fund, the Adviser or any affiliate of any such legal risk, litigation or regulatory action could be substantial and adverse. In addition, any litigation may consume substantial amounts of the Adviser's time and attention, and that time and the devotion of resources to litigation may, at times, be disproportionate to the amounts at stake in the litigation.

No Independent Underwriter. The Fund is conducting the continuous offering of the Fund's Shares without the aid of an independent principal underwriter. Accordingly, Fund shareholders will not have the benefit of an independent due diligence review and investigation of the type normally performed by an independent principal underwriter in connection with the offering of securities.

Certain states impose additional requirements on issuers, and their officers and agents, that offer securities in the state without the use of a principal underwriter, while other states may require certain Fund officers or personnel of the Adviser to register as an "agent", "issuer agent," or similar in the state. Compliance with these requirements creates regulatory risk and extra expenses for the Fund.

Cyber Security Risk. With the increased use of technologies such as the Internet to conduct business, the Fund and its service providers, as well as the App, are susceptible to operational, information security and related risks. In general, cyber incidents can result from deliberate attacks or unintentional events. Cyber-attacks include, but are not limited to, gaining unauthorized access to digital systems (e.g., through "hacking" or malicious software coding) for purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, corrupting data, or causing operational disruption. Cyber-attacks may also be carried out in a manner that does not require gaining unauthorized access, such as causing denial-of-service attacks on websites (i.e., efforts to make network services unavailable to intended users). Cyber security failures by or breaches of the App, the Adviser, or other Fund service providers (including, but not limited

20

Table of Contents

to, fund accountants, custodians, transfer agents and administrators), and the issuers of securities in which the Fund invests, have the ability to cause disruptions and impact business operations, potentially resulting in financial losses, interference with the Fund's ability to calculate its NAV, impediments to trading, the inability of shareholders to transact business, violations of applicable privacy and other laws, regulatory fines, penalties, reputational damage, reimbursement or other compensation costs, or additional compliance costs. In addition, substantial costs may be incurred in order to prevent any cyber incidents in the future. While the Fund has established business continuity plans in the event of, and risk management systems to prevent, such cyber-attacks, there are inherent limitations in such plans and systems including the possibility that certain risks have not been identified. Furthermore, the Fund cannot control the cyber security plans and systems put in place by service providers to the Fund and issuers in which the Fund invests. As a result, the Fund or its shareholders could be negatively impacted.

The App, through its third-party hosting facilities, will electronically store investors' bank information, social security numbers, and other personally-identifiable sensitive data that is submitted through the App. Similarly, certain Fund service providers, including the Fund's Administrator, may process, store, and transmit such information. The Fund has procedures and systems in place that it believes are reasonably designed to protect this sensitive information and prevent data losses and security breaches. However, these measures cannot provide absolute security. Any accidental or willful security breach or other unauthorized access could cause shareholders' secure information to be stolen and used for criminal purposes, and shareholders would be subject to increased risk of fraud or identity theft. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not

recognized until they are launched against a target, we and the third-party hosting facilities we use may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. Any security breach, whether actual or perceived, could harm the Fund's reputation, resulting in the potential loss of investors and adverse effect on the value of a shareholder's investment in the Fund.

Opinions and Forward-Looking Statements May Not Be Correct. This prospectus and the Fund's marketing materials may contain many opinions and forward-looking statements about the direction and future performance of venture capital markets and venture capital secondaries and co-investment markets, the relative merits of various investment strategies and investment firms, and the capabilities and competitive strength of the Adviser and the Fund. These statements include predictions, statements of belief and expectation, and may include the use of qualitative terms such as "best-of-class," "superior" and "top-tier." Investors should understand that such statements represent the current views of the Adviser or other third party sources, that other market participants might have differing views, and that the actual events, including the actual future performance of the venture capital market and venture capital secondaries and co-investment markets and the Fund could differ sharply from the opinions and forward-looking statements contained in the Fund's prospectus and marketing materials. Any such departures could materially affect the performance of the Fund. In addition, the Adviser has not independently verified any of the information provided by third party sources and cannot ensure its accuracy. For all of the reasons set above and others, prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on opinions, statements, and performance.

Risks Related to Fund Investments

Venture Capital Investing Risks. While venture capital investments offer the opportunity for significant gains, these investments also involve an extremely high degree of business and financial risk and can result in substantial losses. There generally will be little or no publicly available information regarding the status and prospects of Portfolio Companies. For example, Portfolio Companies will generally not be subject to SEC reporting requirements, will generally not be required to maintain accounting records in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"), and are generally not required to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting. As a result, the Adviser may not have timely or accurate information about the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Portfolio Companies in which the Fund invests. Many investment decisions by the Adviser will be dependent upon the ability to obtain relevant information from non-public sources, and the Adviser may be required to make decisions without complete information or in reliance upon information provided by third parties that is impossible or impracticable to verify.

Portfolio Companies may have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet their obligations with their existing working capital, which may lead to equity financings, possibly at discounted valuations, in which the Fund's holdings could be substantially diluted if the Fund does not or cannot participate, bankruptcy or liquidation and the reduction or loss of the Fund's investment. Portfolio Companies are also more likely to depend on the management talents and efforts of a small group of persons; therefore, the death, disability, resignation or termination of one or more

21

Table of Contents

of these persons could have a material adverse impact on a Portfolio Company and, in turn, on the Fund. At the time of the Fund's investment, a Portfolio Company may lack one or more key attributes (e.g., proven technology, marketable product, complete management team, or strategic alliances) necessary for success. In most cases, investments will be long term in nature and may require many years from the date of initial investment before disposition.

The marketability and value of each Portfolio Company investment will depend upon many factors beyond the Adviser's control. Portfolio Companies may have substantial variations in operating results from period to period, face intense competition, and experience failures or substantial declines in value at any stage. The public market for startup and emerging growth companies is extremely volatile. Such volatility may adversely affect the development of Portfolio Companies, the ability of the Fund to dispose of investments, and the value of investment securities on the date of sale or distribution by the Fund. In particular, the receptiveness of the public market to initial public offerings by the Fund's Portfolio Companies may vary dramatically from period to period. An otherwise successful Portfolio Company may yield poor investment returns if it is unable to consummate an initial public offering at the

proper time. Even if a Portfolio Company effects a successful public offering, the Portfolio Company's securities may be subject to contractual "lock-up," securities law or other restrictions, which may, for a material period of time, prevent the Fund from disposing of such securities. Similarly, the receptiveness of potential acquirers to the Fund's Portfolio Companies will vary over time and, even if a Portfolio Company investment is disposed of via a merger, consolidation or similar transaction, the Fund's stock, security or other interests in the surviving entity may not be marketable. There can be no guarantee that any Portfolio Company investment will result in a liquidity event via public offering, merger, acquisition or otherwise. Generally, the investments made by the Fund will be illiquid and difficult to value, and there will be little or no collateral to protect an investment once made.

Following its initial investment in a given Portfolio Company, the Fund may decide to provide additional funds to such portfolio company or may have the opportunity or otherwise need to increase its investment in a Portfolio Company. There is no assurance that the Fund will have the opportunity to make follow-on investments, will make follow-on investments or will have sufficient available funds to make follow-on investments. Any decision by the Fund not to make follow-on investments or its inability to make such investments may have a substantial negative effect on a Portfolio Company in need of such additional capital or may result in a lost opportunity for the Fund to increase its participation in a successful operation.

These same risks will also apply to the venture capital Portfolio Funds in which the Fund may invest.

Co-Investment Risk. It is anticipated that the Fund will co-invest in Portfolio Companies sourced by third party investors unaffiliated with either the Fund or its affiliates, such as private venture capital funds. The Fund's ability to realize a profit on such investments will be particularly reliant on the expertise of the lead investor in the transaction. To the extent that the lead investor in such a co-investment opportunity assumes control of the management of the Portfolio Company, the Fund will be reliant not only upon the lead investor's ability to research, analyze, negotiate and monitor such investments, but also on the lead investor's ability to successfully oversee the operation of the company's business. The Fund's ability to dispose of such investments is typically severely limited, both by the fact that the securities are unregistered and illiquid and by contractual restrictions that may preclude the Fund from selling such investment. Often the Fund may exit such investment only in a transaction, such as an initial public offering or sale of the company, on terms arranged by the lead investor. Such investments may be subject to additional valuation risk, as the Fund's ability to accurately determine the fair value of the investment may depend upon the receipt of information from the lead investor. The valuation assigned to such an investment through application of the Fund's valuation procedures may differ from the valuation assigned to that investment by other co-investors. In some cases, the Fund may pay fees such as placement fees, management fees, administrative fees and/or performance fees to venture capital fund sponsors in connection with a co-investment transaction in which the Fund participates, which fees would be in addition to the fees charged to the Fund by the Adviser and would be indirectly borne by investors in the Fund.

Follow-On Investment Risk. The Fund's investments in Portfolio Companies may require follow-on investments. The Fund may be required to provide follow-on funding for its Portfolio Companies or have the opportunity to make additional investments in such Portfolio Companies. There can be no assurance that the Fund will have sufficient funds to make any such additional investments. Any decision by the Fund not to make follow-on investments or its inability to make them may have a negative impact on a Portfolio Company in need of such an investment, which could, in turn, have a negative effect on the Fund's returns. To the extent the Fund does not participate in a follow-on investment (which may be due to a number of factors, including not having sufficient uncommitted capital reserves to make the investment or restrictions under the Investment Company Act), then the Fund's interest in the Portfolio Company may be diluted or subordinated to the new capital being invested.

22

Table of Contents

Concentration Risk. Depending on the availability of attractive investment opportunities, the Fund's portfolio may at times be more concentrated than the portfolios of funds investing in a broader range of industries and geographies and could experience significant volatility, especially during times when the Fund is concentrated in particular regions or industries that may be exposed to or experiencing unfavorable market conditions. Separately, a Portfolio Fund may concentrate its investments in specific geographic regions or industries. This focus may subject the Portfolio Fund, and thus the Fund, to greater risk and volatility than if investments had been made in issuers in a broader range of geographic regions and/or industries.

Private Company Risks. Investments in start-up and growth-stage private companies (Portfolio Companies) involve greater risks than investments in shares of companies that have traded publicly on an exchange for extended periods of time. These investments may present significant opportunities for capital appreciation but involve a high degree of risk that may result in significant decreases in the value of these investments. The Fund may not be able to sell such investments when the Adviser deems it appropriate to do so because they are not publicly traded. As such, these investments are generally considered to be illiquid until a company's public offering (which may never occur) and are often subject to additional contractual restrictions on resale following any public offering that may prevent the Fund from selling its shares of these companies for a period of time. Market conditions, developments within a company, investor perception or regulatory decisions may adversely affect a late-stage Portfolio Company and delay or prevent such a company from ultimately offering its securities to the public. Even if a Portfolio Company does issue shares in an initial public offering, initial public offerings are risky and volatile and may cause the value of the Fund's investment to decrease significantly. In addition:

- Complex Capital Structures. The types of private companies in which the Fund seeks to invest frequently have much more complex capital structures than traditional publicly-traded companies, and may have multiple classes of equity securities with differing rights, including rights with respect to voting and distributions. In addition, it is often difficult to obtain information with respect to private companies' capital structures, and even where the Adviser is able to obtain such information, there can be no assurance that the information is complete or accurate. In certain cases, private companies may also have preferred stock or senior debt outstanding, which may heighten the risk of investing in the underlying equity of such private companies, particularly in circumstances when the Adviser has limited information with respect to such capital structures. There can be no assurance that the Fund will be able to adequately evaluate the relative risks and benefits of investing in a particular class of a Portfolio Company's equity securities. Any failure on the Adviser's part to properly evaluate the relative rights and value of a class of securities in which the Fund invests could cause the Fund to lose part or all of its investment, which in turn could have a material and adverse effect on the Fund's performance.
- <u>Drag-Along Rights</u>. The Portfolio Company securities the Fund acquires (or into which they are convertible) may be subject to drag-along rights, a standard term in a stock purchase agreement that permits a majority stockholder in a company to force minority stockholders to join in the sale of the company on the same price, terms, and conditions as any other seller in the sale. Such drag-along rights could permit other stockholders, under certain circumstances, to force the Fund to liquidate its position in a Portfolio Company at a specified price, which could be, in the Adviser's opinion, inadequate or undesirable or even below the cost at which the Fund acquired the investment. In this event, the Fund could realize a loss or fail to realize gain in an amount that the Adviser deems appropriate on the investment. Accordingly, the Fund may not be able to realize gains from its investments, and any gains that the Fund does realize on the disposition of any investments may not be sufficient to offset any other losses it experiences.

Portfolio Fund Risks. Portfolio Funds are generally subject to the same risks described elsewhere in this "Risks" section with respect to the Fund's direct investments in Portfolio Companies. Additional risks also apply to the Fund's investment in Portfolio Funds, including:

- <u>Illiquid Investments</u>. Portfolio Fund interests are expected to be illiquid, their marketability may be restricted and the realization of investments from them may take considerable time and/or be costly.
- Valuation Risk. Portfolio Fund interests are ordinarily valued based upon valuations provided by the Portfolio Fund's sponsor or manager, which may be received on a delayed basis. Certain securities in which the Portfolio Funds invest may not have a readily ascertainable market price and are fair valued by the Portfolio Fund's manager. A Portfolio Fund's manager may face a conflict of interest in valuing such securities since their values may have an impact on the manager's compensation. The Fund expects that

Table of Contents

most Portfolio Funds in which it will invest will require an annual independent audit of their financial statements, which includes testing of portfolio valuations made by the Portfolio Fund's manager. The

Adviser will review and perform due diligence on the valuation procedures used by each Portfolio Fund's manager and monitor the returns provided by the Portfolio Funds. However, neither the Adviser nor the Board is able to confirm the accuracy of valuations provided by Portfolio Fund managers. Inaccurate valuations provided by Portfolio Funds could materially adversely affect the value of Shares.

- <u>Duplication of Fees</u>. The Fund may pay asset-based fees and performance-based fees in respect of its interests in Portfolio Funds. Such fees and performance-based compensation are in addition to the management fee the Fund pays to the Adviser. Fund shareholders will indirectly bear their proportionate share of the expenses of the Portfolio Funds, in addition to their proportionate share of the expenses of the Fund. Thus, a Fund shareholder may be subject to higher operating expenses than if the shareholder invested in the Portfolio Funds directly. Shareholders could avoid the additional level of fees and expenses of the Fund by investing directly with the Portfolio Funds, although access to many Portfolio Funds may be limited or unavailable, and may not be permitted for investors who do not meet the substantial minimum net worth and other criteria for investment in Portfolio Funds.
- <u>Performance Fees.</u> Performance-based fees charged by Portfolio Fund managers may create incentives for the Portfolio Fund managers to make risky investments, and may be payable by the Fund to a Portfolio Fund manager based on a Portfolio Fund's positive returns even if the Fund's overall returns are negative.
- <u>Unregistered Funds and Managers</u>. Portfolio Funds generally are not registered as investment companies under the Investment Company Act; therefore, the Fund, as an investor in Portfolio Funds, will not have the benefit of the protections afforded by the Investment Company Act. Portfolio Fund managers may not be registered as investment advisers under the Advisers Act, in which case the Fund, as an investor in Portfolio Funds managed by such Portfolio Fund managers, will not have the benefit of certain of the protections afforded by the Advisers Act.
- <u>Limited Operating Histories</u>. The Fund may invest in Portfolio Funds that have only limited operating histories.
- Regulatory Limitations. There is a risk that the Fund may be precluded from acquiring an interest in certain Portfolio Funds due to regulatory implications under the Investment Company Act or other laws, rules and regulations or may be limited in the amount it can invest in voting securities of Portfolio Funds. For example, the Fund is required to disclose the names and current fair market value of its investments in Portfolio Funds on a periodic basis, and a Portfolio Fund may object to public disclosure concerning the Fund's investment and the valuation of such investment. Furthermore, an investment by the Fund could cause the Fund and other funds managed or sub-advised by the Adviser to become affiliated persons of a Portfolio Fund under the Investment Company Act and prevent them from engaging in certain transactions. The Fund may forego certain voting rights with respect to the Portfolio Funds in an effort to avoid "affiliated person" status under the Investment Company Act. The Adviser may also refrain from including a Portfolio Fund in the Fund's portfolio in order to address adverse regulatory implications that would arise under the Investment Company Act for the Fund and the Adviser's other clients if such an investment was made. In addition, the Fund's ability to invest may be affected by considerations under other laws, rules or regulations.
- <u>Limited Information</u>. Although the Adviser will seek to receive detailed information from each Portfolio Fund regarding its historical performance and business strategy, in most cases the Adviser will have little or no means of independently verifying this information. A Portfolio Fund may use proprietary investment strategies that are not fully disclosed to the Adviser, which may involve risks under some market conditions that are not anticipated by the Adviser.
- <u>In-Kind Distributions</u>. The Fund may receive from a Portfolio Fund an in-kind distribution of securities that may be illiquid or difficult to value and difficult to dispose of.
- Responding to Capital Calls. The Fund may be required to make incremental contributions pursuant to capital calls issued from time to time by a Portfolio Fund. If the Fund fails to satisfy capital calls to a Portfolio Fund in a timely manner then, generally, it will be subject to significant penalties, including the complete forfeiture of the Fund's investment in the Portfolio Fund.

Table of Contents

- Investment Concentration. A Portfolio Fund may focus on a particular industry or sector, which may subject the Portfolio Fund, and thus the Fund, to greater risk and volatility than if investments had been made in issuers in a broader range of industries. Likewise, a Portfolio Fund may focus on a particular country or geographic region, which may subject the Portfolio Fund, and thus the Fund, to greater risk and volatility than if investments had been made in issuers in a broader range of geographic regions.
- <u>Negative Returns</u>. Portfolio Funds may have little or no near-term cash flow available to distribute to its investors, including the Fund. Due to the pattern of cash flows in Portfolio Funds and the illiquid nature of their investments, Investors typically will see negative returns in the early stages of Portfolio Funds. Then as investments are able to realize liquidity events, such as a sale or initial public offering, positive returns will be realized if the Portfolio Fund's investments are successful.

Although the Fund will be an investor in the Portfolio Funds, investors in the Fund will not themselves be equity holders of the Portfolio Funds and will not be entitled to enforce any rights directly against the Portfolio Funds or the Portfolio Fund managers, or assert claims directly against the Portfolio Funds, the Portfolio Fund managers or their respective affiliates. Shareholders will have no right to receive the information issued by the Portfolio Funds that may be available to the Fund as an investor in the Portfolio Funds.

Fixed-Income Securities Risk. The fixed-income securities in which the Fund may invest are generally subject to the following risks:

- <u>Interest Rate Risk</u>. The market value of fixed income securities in which the Fund may invest can be expected to vary inversely with changes in interest rates. Fluctuations in the market value of fixed income securities subsequent to their acquisition will not affect cash income from such securities but will be reflected in the Fund's NAV.
- <u>Credit Risk.</u> The issuer of a fixed-income security may be unable or unwilling to make interest and/or principal payments when due. Generally, the lower the credit rating of a security, the greater the risk that the issuer will default on its obligation. If this occurs, or is perceived as likely to occur, the value of the fixed-income security may fall significantly.
- <u>Maturity and Duration Risk</u>. The Fund has no set policy regarding portfolio maturity or duration of the fixed-income securities it may hold. In general, the longer the duration of any fixed-income securities in the Fund's portfolio, the more exposure the Fund will have to the interest rate risks described above. There can be no assurance that the Adviser's assessment of current and projected market conditions will be correct or that any strategy to adjust the portfolio's duration or maturity will be successful at any given time.

Publicly Traded Equity Securities Risk. Stock markets are volatile, and the prices of equity securities fluctuate based on changes in a company's financial condition and overall market and economic conditions. Although common stocks have historically generated higher average total returns than fixed-income securities over the long-term, common stocks also have experienced significantly more volatility in those returns and, in certain periods, have significantly underperformed relative to fixed-income securities. Common stocks of companies that operate in certain sectors or industries tend to experience greater volatility than companies that operate in other sectors or industries or the broader equity markets. An adverse event, such as an unfavorable earnings report, may depress the value of a particular common stock held by the Fund. A common stock may also decline due to factors which affect a particular industry or industries, such as labor shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions within an industry. The value of a particular common stock held by the Fund may decline for a number of other reasons which directly relate to the issuer, such as management performance, financial leverage, the issuer's historical and prospective earnings, the value of its assets and reduced demand for its goods and services. Also, the prices of common stocks are sensitive to general movements in the stock market and a drop in the stock market may depress the price of common stocks to which the Fund has exposure. Common stock prices fluctuate for several reasons, including changes in investors' perceptions of the financial condition of an issuer or the general condition of the relevant stock market, or when political or economic events affecting the issuers occur. In addition, common stock prices may be particularly

sensitive to rising interest rates, as the cost of capital rises and borrowing costs increase. Common equity securities in which the Fund may invest are structurally subordinated to preferred stock, bonds and other debt instruments in a company's capital structure in terms of priority to corporate income and are therefore inherently more risky than preferred stock or debt instruments of such issuers.

Table of Contents

Other Investment Companies Risks. For liquidity management or in connection with implementation of changes in asset allocation or when identifying private investments for the Fund during periods of large cash inflows or otherwise for temporary defensive purposes, the Fund may invest in securities of money market funds, mutual funds, and exchange-traded funds ("ETFs"). To the extent that the Fund invests in these other investment companies, there will be some duplication of expenses because the Fund will bear its *pro rata* portion of such funds' management fees and operational expenses in addition to the Fund's own management fees and operational expenses. There is no assurance that a money market fund's, mutual fund's, or ETF's investment objectives will be achieved, and these investments can lose money.

Certain money market funds that operate in accordance with Rule 2a-7 under the Investment Company Act float their NAV while others seek to reserve the value of investments at a stable NAV (typically \$1.00 per share). An investment in a money market fund, even an investment in a fund seeking to maintain a stable NAV per share, is not guaranteed, and it is possible for the Fund to lose money by investing in these and other types of money market funds. If the liquidity of a money market fund's portfolio deteriorates below certain levels, the money market fund may suspend redemptions (*i.e.*, impose a redemption gate) and thereby prevent the Fund from selling its investment in the money market fund or impose a fee of up to 2% on amounts the Fund redeems from the money market fund (*i.e.*, impose a liquidity fee). Shares of ETFs trade on a stock exchange or over-the-counter at a premium or a discount to their NAV. Accordingly, the price the Fund pays or receives with respect to buying or selling an ETF's shares may be higher or lower than the NAV of those shares.

Illiquid Investments and Restricted Securities Risk. The Fund may invest without limitation in illiquid or less liquid investments or investments for which no secondary market is readily available or which are otherwise illiquid, including private placement securities. The Fund may not be able to readily dispose of such investments at prices that approximate those at which the Fund could sell such investments if they were more widely traded and, as a result of such illiquidity, the Fund may have to sell other investments or engage in borrowing transactions if necessary to raise cash to meet its obligations. Limited liquidity can also affect the market price of investments, thereby adversely affecting the Fund's NAV and ability to make dividend distributions. The financial markets in general have in recent years experienced periods of extreme secondary market supply and demand imbalance, resulting in a loss of liquidity during which market prices were suddenly and substantially below traditional measures of intrinsic value. During such periods, some investments could be sold only at arbitrary prices and with substantial losses. Periods of such market dislocation may occur again at any time.

Restricted securities are securities that may not be sold to the public without an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, or that may be sold only in a privately negotiated transaction or pursuant to an exemption from registration. For example, Rule 144A under the Securities Act provides an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act for the resale of certain restricted securities to qualified institutional buyers, such as the Fund. However, an insufficient number of qualified institutional buyers interested in purchasing the Rule 144A-eligible securities that the Fund holds could affect adversely the marketability of certain Rule 144A securities, and the Fund might be unable to dispose of such securities promptly or at reasonable prices. When registration is required to sell a security, the Fund may be obligated to pay all or part of the registration expenses and considerable time may pass before the Fund is permitted to sell a security under an effective registration statement. If adverse market conditions develop during this period, the Fund might obtain a less favorable price than the price that prevailed when the Fund decided to sell. The Fund may be unable to sell restricted and other illiquid investments at opportune times or prices.

Minority Investor Risks. The Fund expects in almost all cases to be a minority investor when investing in Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds, and will not have the ability to control or influence the operations of such Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds, nor will it have the right to remove the managers thereof. Rather, Fund will be reliant on the existing management and boards of directors of such companies and funds, which may include representatives

of other unaffiliated investors whose interests may at times conflict with the Fund's interests. The Fund could therefore be adversely affected by actions taken by management or any holders of a majority in interest of the Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds in which it invests.

Non-U.S. Investments Risk. Non-U.S. securities involve certain factors not typically associated with investing in U.S. securities, including risks relating to: (i) currency exchange matters, including fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and the various foreign currencies in which foreign investments are denominated, and costs associated with conversion of investment principal and income from one currency into another; (ii) inflation matters, including rapid fluctuations in inflation rates; (iii) differences between the U.S. and foreign securities markets,

26

Table of Contents

including potential price volatility in and relative liquidity of some foreign securities markets, the absence of uniform accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards, practices and disclosure requirements and the potential of less government supervision and regulation; (iv) economic, social and political risks, including potential exchange control regulations and restrictions on foreign investment and repatriation of capital, the risks of political, economic or social instability and the possibility of expropriation or confiscatory taxation; (v) the possible imposition of foreign taxes on income and gains recognized with respect to such securities; and (vi) difficulties in enforcing legal judgements in foreign courts.

Laws and regulations of foreign countries may impose restrictions that would not exist in the United States and may require financing and structuring alternatives that differ significantly from those customarily used in the United States. No assurance can be given that a change in political or economic climate, or particular legal or regulatory risks, including changes in regulations regarding foreign ownership of assets or repatriation of funds or changes in taxation might not adversely affect an investment by the Fund.

In addition, settlement and clearance procedures in certain foreign markets differ significantly from those in the United States. Foreign settlement and clearance procedures and trade regulations also may involve certain risks (such as delays in payment for or delivery of securities) not typically associated with the settlement of U.S. investments. Communications between the United States and foreign countries may be unreliable, increasing the risk of delayed settlements or losses of security certificates in markets that still rely on physical settlement. If the Fund cannot settle or is delayed in settling a purchase of securities, it may miss attractive investment opportunities and certain of its assets may be uninvested with no return earned thereon for some period. If the Fund cannot settle or is delayed in settling a sale of securities, it may lose money if the value of the security then declines or, if it has contracted to sell the security to another party, the Fund could be liable for any losses incurred.

Foreign Currency Risk. Because the Fund may invest in securities denominated or quoted in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, changes in foreign currency exchange rates may affect the value of securities held by the Fund and the unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments. Currencies of certain countries may be volatile and therefore may affect the value of securities denominated in such currencies, which means that the Fund's NAV could decline as a result of changes in the exchange rates between foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar. The Adviser may, but is not required to, elect for the Fund to seek to protect itself from changes in currency exchange rates through hedging transactions depending on market conditions. In addition, certain countries, particularly emerging market countries, may impose foreign currency exchange controls or other restrictions on the transferability, repatriation or convertibility of currency.

The Fund may hold investments located in emerging industrialized or less developed countries. Risks particularly relevant to such emerging markets may include greater dependence on exports and the corresponding importance of international trade, higher risk of inflation, more extensive controls on foreign investment and limitations on repatriation of invested capital, increased likelihood of governmental involvement in, and control over, the economies, decisions by the relevant government to cease its support of economic reform programs or to impose restrictions, and less established laws and regulations regarding fiduciary duties of officers and directors and protection of investors

Secondary Investments Risks. The Fund may acquire interests in Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds from third party holders of these interests in secondary transactions ("Secondary Investments"). In many cases, the economic, financial and other information available to and used by the Adviser in selecting and structuring Secondary

Investments may have been prepared by the sponsor of the Secondary Investment, may be incomplete or unreliable, and/or may not be verifiable by the Adviser. The Fund will also not have the opportunity to negotiate the terms of Secondary Investments, including any special rights or privileges. Valuation of Secondary Investments may be difficult because there will generally be no established market for such interests. Moreover, the purchase price of Secondary Investments will be subject to negotiation with the sellers of such interests and may, in certain cases, include the Fund's assumption of certain contingent liabilities. The overall performance of the Fund may depend in part on the accuracy of the information available to the Adviser, the acquisition price paid by the Fund for the Secondary Investments and the structure of such acquisitions and the Fund's ultimate exposure to any assumed liabilities.

The Fund may have the opportunity to acquire a portfolio of Secondary Investments from a seller on an "all or nothing" basis. Certain of the Secondary Investments in the portfolio may be less attractive than others, and certain of the sponsors of such Secondary Investments may be more familiar to the Fund than others or may be more experienced or highly regarded than others. In such cases, it may not be possible for the Fund to carve out from such purchases those investments that the Adviser considers (for commercial, tax, legal or other reasons) less attractive.

27

Table of Contents

When the Fund acquires an interest as a Secondary Investment, the Fund may acquire contingent liabilities associated with such interest. Specifically, where the seller has received distributions from the investment and, subsequently, that investment recalls any portion of such distributions, the Fund (as the purchaser of the interest to which such distributions are attributable) may be obligated to pay an amount equivalent to such distributions to such investment. While the Fund may be able, in turn, to make a claim against the seller of the interest for any monies so paid to the investment, there can be no assurance that the Fund would have such right or prevail in any such claim.

The Fund may acquire Secondary Investments as a member of a purchasing syndicate, in which case the Fund may be exposed to additional risks including (among other things): (i) counterparty risk, (ii) reputation risk, (iii) breach of confidentiality by a syndicate member, and (iv) execution risk.

Due Diligence Risk. The Adviser seeks to conduct reasonable and appropriate analysis and due diligence in connection with investment opportunities. Due diligence may entail evaluation of important and complex business, financial, tax, accounting, environmental and legal issues. Outside consultants, legal advisors, accountants, investment banks and other third parties may be involved in the due diligence process to varying degrees depending on the type of investment, the costs of which will be borne by the Fund. The involvement of third-party advisors or consultants may present a number of risks primarily relating to the Adviser's reduced control of the functions that are outsourced. In addition, if the Adviser is unable to timely engage third-party providers, its ability to evaluate and acquire more complex targets could be adversely affected.

When conducting due diligence and making an assessment regarding an investment opportunity, the Adviser relies on available resources, including information provided by the management of Portfolio Companies, investment advisers of Portfolio Funds, and, in some circumstances, third-party investigations. When co-investing with other investors, the Adviser may rely on due diligence performed by and information provided by co-investors. The Adviser's due diligence process may not reveal all facts that may be relevant in connection with an investment made by the Fund. In some cases, only limited information is available about a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund in which the Adviser is considering an investment. There can be no assurance that the due diligence investigations undertaken by the Adviser will reveal or highlight all relevant facts (including fraud) that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating a particular investment opportunity, or that the Adviser's due diligence will result in an investment being successful.

In the event of fraud by any Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund, or by its management or affiliates, the Fund may suffer a partial or total loss of capital invested in that Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund. There can be no assurance that any such losses will be offset by gains (if any) realized on the Fund's other investments. An additional concern is the possibility of material misrepresentation or omission on the part of the Fund investment or the seller of a Secondary Investment. Such inaccuracy or incompleteness may adversely affect the value of that investment. The Fund will rely upon the accuracy and completeness of representations made by Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds, and/or their current or former owners or management, in the due diligence process to the extent reasonable when it makes its investments, but cannot guarantee such accuracy or completeness. Under certain circumstances, payments to the Fund

may be reclaimed if any such payment or distribution is later determined to have been a fraudulent conveyance or a preferential payment.

Expedited Transactions. The Adviser may at times be required to perform investment analyses and make investment decisions on an expedited basis to take advantage of certain investment opportunities. In such cases, the information available to the Adviser at the time of an investment decision may be limited and the Adviser may not have access to detailed information regarding the investment opportunity, in each case, to an extent that may not otherwise be the case had the Adviser been afforded more time to evaluate the investment opportunity. Therefore, no assurance can be given that the Adviser will have knowledge of all circumstances that may adversely affect an investment.

Indemnification of Fund Investments, Managers and Others. The Fund may agree to indemnify certain of its investments and their respective managers, officers, directors, and affiliates from any liability, damage, cost, or expense arising out of, among other things, acts or omissions undertaken in connection with the management of the particular company or fund. Indemnification of sellers of Secondary Investments may be required as a condition to purchasing such securities. If the Fund were required to make payments (or return distributions) in respect of any such indemnity, the Fund could be materially adversely affected.

Epidemics, Pandemics, and Public Health Issues. The Adviser's business activities as well as the activities of the Fund and its operations and investments could be materially adversely affected by outbreaks of disease, epidemics and public health issues in in the United States and globally.

28

Table of Contents

In particular, a respiratory disease caused by a novel coronavirus, or COVID-19, has spread and is currently spreading rapidly around the world since its initial emergence in December 2019. This pandemic has resulted in closing borders, enhanced health screenings, healthcare service preparation and delivery, quarantines, cancellations, disruptions to supply chains and customer activity, as well as general concern and uncertainty. The impact of this pandemic, and other pandemics and epidemics that may arise in the future, could affect the economies of many nations, individual companies and the market in general in ways that cannot necessarily be foreseen at the present time. In addition, the impact of infectious diseases in developing or emerging market countries may be greater due to less established health care systems. Health crises caused by the novel coronavirus pandemic may exacerbate other pre-existing political, social and economic risks in certain countries. The impact of the pandemic may last for an extended period of time.

Russian Invasion of Ukraine. In February 2022, Russia mobilized and commenced military operations in Ukraine resulting in a large-scale conflict within the country and the surrounding border regions. The effects, scale and impact of this conflict on Ukraine, Russia and other countries is highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. The United States and other global leaders have issued broad-ranging sanctions against Russia and certain Russian companies and individuals, and it is unclear whether further sanctions and/or military responses will be implemented. Additionally, Russia may take counter measures or engage in retaliatory actions — including cyberattacks and espionage — which could further disrupt global markets and supply chains. Effects on the global economy and trading markets resulting from the military operations, economic sanctions, other retaliatory actions connected to the Russia-Ukraine conflict are uncertain and impossible to predict, but may include significant market volatility, rising oil and natural gas prices, and additional inflationary pressures, all of which may have a negative effect on the Fund's investments and performance beyond any direct exposure to Russian or Ukrainian issuers.

29

Table of Contents

FUND MANAGEMENT

Fund Board and Officers

The Fund's Board of Trustees oversees the general conduct of the Fund's business and represent the interests of Fund shareholders. The Board is comprised of four Trustees, and a majority of the Trustees are not deemed to be "interested persons" of the Fund as defined in the Investment Company Act.

The Board periodically reviews the Fund's investment performance and the quality of other services such as administration, custody, and investor services. The Board also reviews the fees paid to the Adviser for its management services, as well as the overall level of the Fund's operating expenses.

The name and business address of the Trustees and officers of the Fund, and their principal occupations and other affiliations during the past five years, are set forth under "Management of the Fund" in the SAI.

Investment Adviser and Management Contract

The Board has retained the Adviser to be the Fund's investment adviser and manager, responsible for making investment decisions for the Fund and managing the Fund's other affairs and business. A discussion regarding the basis for the Board's approval of the Fund's management contract described below is included in the Fund's annual report to shareholders dated March 31, 2023. The Adviser is recently organized, and the Fund is the first investment portfolio managed by the Adviser.

The Adviser is wholly-owned by Sweater Inc., which is controlled by Jesse Randall. The Adviser's address is 2000 Central Ave., Boulder, Colorado 80301.

Under a management contract between the Fund and the Adviser, subject to such policies as the Board may determine, the Adviser furnishes and manages a continuous investment program for the Fund and makes investment decisions on behalf of the Fund. Subject to the control of the Board, and except for the functions carried out by Fund officers, the Adviser also manages, supervises, and conducts the other affairs and business of the Fund and matters incidental thereto, and places all orders for the purchase and sale of the Fund's portfolio investments.

The management contract between the Fund and the Adviser provides for the Fund to pay a management fee to the Adviser, computed and paid monthly, at an annual rate of 2.50% of the Fund's average daily NAV (the "Management Fee"). The Adviser has contractually agreed to waive its Management Fee and/or reimburse Fund expenses to the extent necessary so that the Fund's total annual operating expenses (excluding any taxes, interest, brokerage commissions, acquired fund fees and expenses, and extraordinary expenses, such as litigation or reorganization costs, but inclusive of organizational costs and offering costs) do not exceed 5.90% of the Fund's average daily net assets. The Adviser may recoup amounts of its Management Fee waived and Fund expenses paid or reimbursed in certain circumstances. This contractual expense limitation will remain in effect through August 15, 2024, unless the Board approves its earlier modification or termination. See "Fund Expenses — Expense Limitation Agreement" below for additional Information.

Portfolio Managers

The following officer of the Adviser is primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of the Fund's portfolio:

Portfolio Manager	Since	Title and Positions Held Over Past Five Years
Jesse K Randall	2022	Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer of Sweater Inc., a financial technology firm and parent company of the Adviser, and Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Adviser since 2021. Trustee, President and Principal Executive Officer since 2022. Owner and Chief Executive Officer of Deviant Strategy LLC, a consulting firm serving startup companies, since 2016. From 2016 to 2019, Chief Executive Officer of Drip LLC, a marketing firm.
		30

Table of Contents

The SAI provides information about Mr. Randall's compensation, other accounts managed by Mr. Randall, and Mr. Randall's ownership of Fund Shares.

Control Persons

A "control person" generally is a person who beneficially owns more than 25% of the voting securities of the Fund or has the power to exercise control over the management or policies of the Fund. As of July 15, 2023, the Fund does not know of any control persons of the Fund.

31

Table of Contents

DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE

The price of the Fund's Shares is based on its NAV. The NAV per Share equals the total value of the Fund's assets as of the applicable Business Day, less its liabilities (including accrued fees and expenses), divided by the number of its outstanding Shares.

The Fund calculates its NAV as of the close of regular trading (4:00 p.m. Eastern Time) on the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") each day the NYSE is open (each, a "Business Day").

As discussed in further detail herein, although the Fund will determine its NAV on each Business Day, the Fund's calculation of its NAV is subject to valuation risk.

With respect to securities for which market values are not readily available, including securities of Portfolio Companies, Portfolio Funds, and other private investments, it is the Board's responsibility to, in good faith, determine the fair value of such securities. The Board has adopted and approved written policies and procedures (the "Valuation Procedures") for the purpose of determining the value of securities held by the Fund, including the fair value of the Fund's investments in private securities, and has delegated to the Adviser general responsibility for determining, in accordance with the Valuation Procedures, the value of the Fund's securities. As a general principle, the fair value of a Fund asset should reflect the amount that the Fund might reasonably expect to receive for the asset from the current sale of that asset in an orderly arm's-length transaction, based on information reasonably available at the time the valuation is made and that the Fund believes to be reliable. The Board reviews certain fair valuation information at its regularly scheduled meetings and also reviews the Valuation Procedures periodically. The Adviser anticipates that a significant portion of the Fund's net assets will be valued at fair value.

Fair Value. When market quotations are not readily available or are believed by the Adviser to be unreliable, the Fund's investments are valued at fair value ("Fair Value Assets"). Fair Value Assets are valued by the Adviser in accordance with the Valuation Procedures approved by the Board. The Adviser may conclude that a market quotation is not readily available or is unreliable if a security or other asset or liability does not have a price source due to its complete lack of trading, if the Adviser believes a market quotation from a broker-dealer or other source is unreliable, where the security or other asset or liability is only thinly traded or due to the occurrence of a significant event subsequent to the most recent market quotation. For this purpose, a "significant event" may occur if the Adviser determines, in its business judgment prior to or at the time of pricing the Fund's assets or liabilities, that it is likely that the event will cause a material change to the last exchange closing price or closing market price of one or more assets or liabilities held by the Fund.

A substantial portion of the Fund's assets consist of securities of private companies for which there are no readily available market quotations. The information available in the marketplace for such companies, their securities and the status of their businesses and financial conditions is often extremely limited, outdated, and difficult to confirm. Such securities are valued by the Adviser at fair value as determined pursuant to the Valuation Procedures. In determining fair value, the Adviser is required to consider all appropriate factors relevant to value and all indicators of value available to the Adviser. The determination of fair value necessarily involves judgment in evaluating this information in order to determine the price that the Fund might reasonably expect to receive for the security upon its current sale. The most relevant information may often be that information which is provided by the issuer of the securities. Given the nature, timeliness, amount and reliability of information provided by the issuer, fair valuations may become more difficult and uncertain as such information is unavailable or becomes outdated.

Certain investments for which market quotations are not readily available or for which market quotations are deemed not to represent fair value may be valued using a market approach, an income approach, or both approaches, as

appropriate. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities (including a business). The income approach uses valuation techniques to convert future amounts (for example, cash flows or earnings) to a single present amount (discounted). The measurement is based on the value indicated by current market expectations about those future amounts. In following these approaches, the types of factors that we may take into account in determining the fair value of our investments include, as relevant and among other factors: available current business data (e.g., information available through regulatory filings, press releases, news feeds and financial press), including relevant and applicable market trading and transaction comparables; applicable market yields and multiples; information provided by the company (e.g., letters to investors, financials, information provided pursuant to financial document reporting obligations); security covenants;

32

Table of Contents

call protection provisions; information rights; the nature and realizable value of any collateral; the portfolio company's ability to make payments; its earnings and discounted cash flows; the markets in which the portfolio company does business; comparisons of financial ratios of peer companies that are public; M&A comparables; and enterprise values.

When determining the price for a Fair Value Asset, the Adviser is required to seek to determine the price that the Fund might reasonably expect to receive from the current sale of that asset or liability in an arm's-length transaction. The price generally may not be determined based on what the Fund might reasonably expect to receive for selling an asset or liability at a later time or if it holds the asset or liability to maturity. Fair value determinations are typically based upon all available factors that the Adviser deems relevant at the time of the determination, and may be based on analytical values determined by the Adviser using proprietary or third-party valuation models.

The Fund's annual audited financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, follow the requirements for valuation set forth in Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures" ("ASC 820"), which defines and establishes a framework for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP and expands financial statement disclosure requirements relating to fair value measurements.

The three-level hierarchy for fair value measurement is defined as follows:

- Level 1 Unadjusted price quotations in active markets/exchanges for identical assets or liabilities that the Fund has the ability to access
- Level 2 Other observable inputs (including, but not limited to, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in markets that are active, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities (such as interest rates, yield curves, volatilities, prepayment speeds, loss severities, credit risks and default rates) or other market corroborated inputs)
- Level 3 Unobservable inputs based on the best information available in the circumstances, to the extent observable inputs are not available (including the Fund's own assumptions used in determining the fair value of investments)

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment's level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the overall fair value measurement. The Adviser's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and consideration of factors specific to the investment.

The Fund expects that it will hold a high proportion of Level 3 investments relative to its total investments, which is directly related to the Fund's investment strategy and target investments.

In general, ASC 820 and other accounting rules applicable to investment companies and various assets in which they invest are evolving. Such changes may adversely affect the Fund. For example, the evolution of rules governing the determination of the fair market value of assets or liabilities to the extent such rules become more stringent would tend to increase the cost and/or reduce the availability of third-party determinations of fair market value.

General Valuation Information. In determining the market value of portfolio investments, the Fund may for certain investments to employ independent third party pricing services, which may use, without limitation, a matrix or formula method that takes into consideration market indexes, matrices, yield curves and other specific adjustments. This may result in the securities being valued at a price different from the price that would have been determined had the matrix or formula method not been used. All cash, receivables and current payables are carried on the Fund's books at their face value. The price the Fund could receive upon the sale of any particular portfolio investment may differ from the Fund's valuation of the investment, particularly for securities that trade in thin or volatile markets or that are valued using a fair valuation methodology or a price provided by an independent pricing service. As a result, the price received upon the sale of an investment may be less than the value ascribed by the Fund, and the Fund could realize a greater than expected loss or lesser than expected gain upon the sale of the investment. The Fund's ability to value its investment may also be impacted by technological issues and/or errors by pricing services or other third party service providers.

33

Table of Contents

Prices obtained from independent third party pricing services, broker-dealers or market makers to value the Fund's securities and other assets and liabilities are based on information available at the time the Fund values its assets and liabilities. In the event that a pricing service quotation is revised or updated subsequent to the day on which the Fund valued such security, the revised pricing service quotation generally will be applied prospectively. Such determination shall be made considering pertinent facts and circumstances surrounding such revision.

In the event that application of the methods of valuation discussed above result in a price for a security which is deemed not to be representative of the fair market value of such security, the security will be valued by the Adviser pursuant to the Valuation Procedures. All Fund assets and liabilities for which market quotations are not readily available held by the Fund (including restricted securities) are valued at fair value as determined in good faith by the Adviser in accordance with the Valuation Procedures. Any assets and liabilities which are denominated in a foreign currency are translated into U.S. dollars at the prevailing rates of exchange.

Valuation of Portfolio Funds.

Generally. In valuing The Fund's investments in Portfolio Funds, the Adviser, under the supervision of the Board, considers all relevant information to determine the price that the Fund might reasonably expect to receive from the current sale (or redemption in the case of a Portfolio Fund whose interests carry redemption rights) of the interest in the Portfolio Fund in an arms' length transaction. In general, the Adviser will rely primarily on any estimated or actual (as applicable) unaudited values provided by the Portfolio Fund's manager or sponsor if such unaudited values are received in a timely fashion and are believed to be the most reliable and relevant indication of the value of interests in such Portfolio Fund. It is anticipated that these unaudited values will be prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and will, in effect, be the fair value of the Portfolio Fund's assets less such Portfolio Fund's liabilities. The Adviser will give weight to such valuations and any other factors and considerations set forth in the Valuation Procedures as deemed appropriate in each case.

In circumstances where, taking into account the factors and considerations set forth in the Valuation Procedures, the Adviser has reason to believe that the most recent value provided by a Portfolio Fund is not the most reliable and relevant indication of the value of an interest in such Portfolio Fund, the Adviser may adjust such reported value to reflect the fair value of the interest in such Portfolio Fund. Likewise, in circumstances where a Portfolio Fund does not provide a valuation as contemplated above, the factors and considerations set forth in the Valuation Procedures may be the only indicators of the value of an interest in such Portfolio Fund and the Adviser will use such factors, together with other valuation methodologies set forth in the Valuation Procedures that may be relevant, to estimate the fair value of the Fund's interest in such Portfolio Fund.

The Fund generally expects that most Portfolio Funds in which it will invest will comply with U.S. GAAP and provide annual audited financial statements. In general, the Adviser will, prior to investing in any Portfolio Fund, and periodically thereafter, assess such Portfolio Fund's valuation policies and procedures for appropriateness in light of the Fund's obligation to fair value their assets under the Investment Company Act and pursuant to U.S. GAAP (as applicable) for investment companies and will assess the overall reasonableness of the information provided by such Portfolio Fund.

<u>Portfolio Funds</u>. Typically, the Fund expects to receive unaudited values from Portfolio Funds on a quarterly basis and audited values on an annual basis. In general, it is anticipated that such valuation information from these Portfolio Funds will generally be available 60 days or more after each quarter-end and/or 120 or more days after each year-end. Therefore, the most recently provided valuation information from these Portfolio Funds for purposes of calculating the Fund's NAV will typically be adjusted by the Adviser pursuant to the Valuation Procedures to estimate the fair value of the interests in such Portfolio Funds, as described below. The Fund may, but is not required to, engage an independent third party valuation firm to assist to determine or to opine on the reasonableness of the adjusted value.

In general, prior to investing in any Portfolio Fund, and periodically thereafter, the Adviser's due diligence process may include, but not be limited to: (1) review of such fund's unaudited quarterly and audited annual financial statements and other investment reports for any indication of valuation issues; (2) discussions with such fund's management regarding the status of its investment portfolios, which will be conducted on at least a quarterly basis; and/or (3) any other measures deemed appropriate under the circumstances.

34

Table of Contents

In valuing Portfolio Fund investments held in the Fund's portfolio, the Adviser will rely primarily on such unaudited valuation statements received from such funds, as indicated above. It will usually be the case, however, that the most recently reported value by such funds will be as of a date that is significantly earlier than the date as of which the Fund is calculating its NAV. In these circumstances, and in other situations where the Adviser determines that the consideration of the following factors is relevant to determining the value of an interest in a Portfolio Fund, such fund's reported value will generally be adjusted for (1) cash flows to/from such fund due to capital drawdowns/distributions that may have occurred since the date of the most recently available reported values; (2) changes in the valuation of relevant indices; and (3) such other factors that the Adviser deems appropriate, including those set forth in greater detail below, as well as any publicly available information regarding such fund's portfolio companies and/or assets (*i.e.*, idiosyncratic factors).

Other factors that may be relevant in determining the value of an interest in a Portfolio Fund, in addition to those other factors and considerations set forth above and in the Valuation Procedures, include (i) information provided to the Fund or to the Adviser by such fund, or the failure to provide such information as agreed to in such fund's offering materials or other agreements with the Fund; (ii) relevant news and other public sources; (iii) known secondary market transactions in the fund's interests (to the extent deemed a credible indication of value); and (iv) significant market events that may not otherwise be captured by changes in valuation of relevant indices discussed above. As part of the Adviser's ongoing due diligence process, the Adviser will compare its fair valuation of the Fund's interests in a Portfolio Fund to such fund's quarterly valuation statement for that particular period — if provided by the Portfolio Fund — for purposes of determining whether any adjustments to the implementation of the Valuation Procedures should be made going forward, including, for example, any adjustments to the relevant indices discussed above.

Adjustments. Although the Valuation Procedures approved by the Board provide that the Adviser may, in certain circumstances, rely primarily on the valuations provided by the Portfolio Fund managers or their administrators, the Adviser will not be able to confirm independently the accuracy of any unaudited valuations provided thereby.

The valuations reported by the managers of the Portfolio Funds, upon which the Fund may in certain circumstances primarily rely in calculating its NAV and NAV per Share, may be subject to later adjustment, based on information reasonably available at that time. The Fund will calculate the Fund's Share price for investors purchasing Shares, pay repurchase proceeds, as well as calculate management and other fees, on the basis of net asset valuations determined using the best information available as of the valuation date. In the event that a Portfolio Fund, in accordance with its valuation procedures, subsequently corrects, revises or adjusts an unaudited estimated or final value that was properly relied upon by the Fund, or properly used by the Fund as a component of determining the fair value of their interest in that Portfolio Fund, the Fund will generally not make any retroactive adjustments to its NAV, or to any amounts paid by the Fund based upon such NAV, to reflect a revised valuation. If, after the Fund pays repurchase proceeds, one or more of the valuations used to determine the NAV on which the repurchase payment is based are revised, the repurchasing shareholder (if the valuations are revised upward) or the remaining shareholders (if the valuations are revised downwards) will bear the risk of such revisions. A repurchasing shareholder will neither receive distributions from, nor will it be required to reimburse, the Fund in such circumstances. This may have the effect of diluting or increasing the economic interest of other shareholders. Such adjustments or revisions, whether increasing or

decreasing the NAV at the time they occur, because they relate to information available only at the time of the adjustment or revision, will not affect the amount of the repurchase proceeds received by shareholder who had their Shares repurchased prior to such adjustments and received their repurchase proceeds. As a result, to the extent that such subsequently adjusted valuations from managers or revisions to the NAV of a Portfolio Fund adversely affect the Fund's NAV, the outstanding Shares of the Fund will be adversely affected by prior repurchases to the benefit of shareholders who had their Shares repurchased at a NAV per Share higher than the adjusted amount. Conversely, any increases in the NAV per Share resulting from such subsequently adjusted valuations will be entirely for the benefit of the holders of the outstanding Shares and to the detriment of shareholders who previously had their Shares repurchased at a NAV per Share lower than the adjusted amount. New shareholders, as well as shareholders purchasing additional Shares, may be affected in a similar way because the same principles apply to Share purchases.

Valuation of Certain Other Assets.

Equity Investments Traded on an Exchange. Equity securities traded on a recognized securities exchange (e.g., NYSE), separate trading boards of a securities exchange or through a market system that provides contemporaneous transaction pricing information (an "Exchange") are valued via independent pricing services generally at the Exchange closing

35

Table of Contents

price or if an Exchange closing price is not available, the last traded price on that Exchange prior to the time as of which the assets or liabilities are valued; however, under certain circumstances other means of determining current market value may be used. If an equity security is traded on more than one Exchange, the current market value of the security where it is primarily traded generally will be used.

Fixed-Income Investments. Fixed-income securities for which market quotations are readily available are generally valued using such securities' current market value. The Fund values fixed-income portfolio securities using the last available bid prices or current market quotations provided by dealers or prices (including evaluated prices) supplied by an independent third-party pricing services, each in accordance with Valuation Procedures approved by the Board. The pricing services may use matrix pricing or valuation models that utilize certain inputs and assumptions to derive values, including transaction data (e.g., recent representative bids and offers), credit quality information, perceived market movements, news, and other relevant information and by other methods, which may include consideration of: yields or prices of securities of comparable quality, coupon, maturity and type; indications as to values from dealers; general market conditions; and other factors and assumptions. Pricing services generally value fixed-income securities assuming orderly transactions of an institutional round lot size, but the Fund may hold or transact in such securities in smaller, odd lot sizes. Odd lots often trade at lower prices than institutional round lots. The amortized cost method of valuation may be used with respect to debt obligations with sixty days or less remaining to maturity unless the Adviser determines such method does not represent fair value. Certain fixed-income investments including asset-backed and mortgage related securities may be valued based on valuation models that consider the estimated cash flows of each tranche of the entity, establish a benchmark yield and develop an estimated tranche specific spread to the benchmark yield based on the unique attributes of the tranche.

Registered Funds. Shares of mutual funds (*i.e.*, registered open-end funds), including money-market funds, are valued at their reported NAV. Shares of underlying registered exchange-traded closed-end funds or other registered ETFs will be valued at their most recent closing price.

36

Table of Contents

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION AND THE SWEATER APP

This offering is being made directly by us, and we have not retained and do not intend to retain an underwriter, dealer manager, or broker-dealer in connection with the offer and sale of the Shares offered pursuant to this prospectus. We market Fund Shares directly to investors via social media posts and other channels, which direct potential investors to the App, where investors may purchase Shares directly from the Fund.

Shares are available for purchase directly from the Fund through the App. The App is owned and operated by Sweater Inc., the Adviser's parent company. The App is free to download and use, and is available through the Apple App Store and Google Play Store. The Fund does not pay Sweater Inc. any fee or other remuneration for use of the App by the Fund and its shareholders.

The minimum initial investment for Fund Shares is \$500, with a \$50 minimum for subsequent investments. The Fund may waive or change these investment minimums at any time.

Getting Started — Opening an Account

If you are a new investor, you will need to open an account with the Fund through the App before you may purchase Shares. To open a new account, you will first need to download the App from the Apple App Store or Google Play Store. The App is free to download and use.

The App will provide step-by-step instructions to open and fund a new account, and this application process is completed entirely through the App. As part of this process, and prior to opening your account, the Fund will collect certain information from you through the App in accordance with its anti-money laundering and know-your-customer policies and procedures.

You will need to link one of your bank accounts to your App account in order to complete your account and purchase Shares. Share purchases will be funded through electronic funds transfer from your linked bank account. The Fund, through the App, will not accept cash, credit card convenience checks, prepaid debit cards, non-bank money orders, travelers checks or checks drawn on foreign banks as forms of payment to purchase Shares. The service provider Sweater Inc. has retained to process electronic transfers from your bank account will charge you a fee for these transfers. Please see the information provided in the App for additional information about this fee.

The Fund will also use electronic funds transfer to transfer any redemption proceeds. In addition, if you elect to receive dividends in cash, the Fund will transfer any Fund dividends through electronic funds transfer. In each case, prior to sending any redemption proceeds or cash dividends, we may ask you to confirm your bank account information through the App.

The App will keep your bank information on file for future purchases and redemptions (and for payment of dividends if you elect to receive dividends in cash). When you open a Fund account through the App and purchase Shares, it does not create a checking or other bank account relationship with the Fund or any bank.

Purchasing Shares

Once we have opened your account, including confirming that you have linked your bank account through the App, you may use the App to submit orders to purchase Shares at any time. To make a same day investment, your order via the App must be received and accepted by us prior to the close of regular trading on the NYSE (normally 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time). Share purchase requests will be processed at the NAV next calculated after we accept your purchase request and subscription funds. While the App is intended to be the exclusive means through which investors may purchase Shares, if you would like to purchase Shares during any period where the App is experiencing a widespread outage, please call us toll-free at 1-888-577-7987 for information about how you may submit orders to purchase Shares outside of the App.

Please note that the Fund may stop offering Shares completely or may offer Shares only on a limited basis, for a period of time or permanently. The Fund may also restrict, reject, or cancel purchase orders. When you buy Shares, it does not create a checking or other bank account relationship with the Fund or any bank. The service provider Sweater Inc. has retained to process electronic transfers from your bank account will charge you a fee for these transfers. Please see the information provided in the App for additional information about this fee.

Automatic Investment Program — Subsequent Investments

Shareholders may participate in the Fund's automatic investment program, an investment program that automatically moves money from a shareholder's bank account and invests it in the Fund through the use of monthly electronic funds transfers. Under this program, a shareholder can pre-authorize monthly transfers from the shareholder's bank account of a fixed amount to purchase Shares at the NAV next calculated after we receive the funds. The minimum monthly automatic transfer amount is \$50.

You will be invited to establish an automatic investment program as part of opening your Fund account through the App. If you are an existing shareholder, you may establish a new automatic investment program, or modify your existing automatic investment program, at any time through logging into your App account and following the step-by-step instructions.

Additional Information about the App

Through the App you will be able to obtain or view your account information, access Fund shareholder reports and NAV information, view certain Fund holdings information, buy Fund Shares, establish an automatic investment program, and submit redemption requests.

When registering to open an account through the App, you will be asked to accept the terms of an online agreement(s), create a user profile and establish a password for online services. You will be automatically enrolled for electronic delivery of your Fund shareholder documents. This will allow you to receive electronic delivery (through the App) of the Fund's prospectuses, annual/semiannual reports to shareholders, and proxy statements, as well as your account(s) statements and trade confirmations, and certain other Fund notices and information. Paper copies of shareholder documents may be requested by shareholders by calling us toll-free at 1-888-577-7987 or by emailing us at support@sweaterventures.com. Using the App means you are consenting to sending and receiving personal financial information over the Internet, so you should be sure you are comfortable with the risks.

As long as we and our agents follow reasonable security procedures and act on instructions we reasonably believe are genuine, we will not be responsible for any losses that may occur from unauthorized requests. We will request passwords or other information and also may record calls. We will refuse a telephone request if the caller is unable to provide the requested information or if we reasonably believe the caller is not an individual authorized to act on the account. To help safeguard your account, keep your password confidential and verify the accuracy of your confirmation statements immediately after you receive them. Contact us immediately at 1-888-577-7987 if you believe someone has obtained unauthorized access to your account or password.

Investor Suitability

An investment in the Fund involves a considerable amount of risk. The Fund is intended solely for long-term investment by shareholders who can accept the risks associated with making highly speculative, primarily illiquid investments in privately negotiated transactions. You may lose part or all of the amount you invest in the Fund, and you should therefore not invest in the Fund unless you can readily bear the consequences of such loss. Before making your investment decision, you should (i) consider the suitability of this investment with respect to your investment objectives and personal financial situation and (ii) consider factors such as your personal net worth, income, age, risk tolerance and liquidity needs. In addition, please consider carefully how the Fund's investment strategies fit into your overall investment portfolios, because the Fund is not designed to be, by itself, a well-balanced or complete investment program for any particular investor.

The Fund's Shares should be considered an illiquid investment. You will not be able to redeem your Shares on a daily basis because the Fund is a closed-end fund operating as an interval fund, and will only offer to redeem a limited portion of its Shares twice a year. The Fund's Shares are not traded on an active market and there is currently no secondary market for the Shares, nor should you rely on a secondary market developing in the future. You should invest in the Fund only money that you can afford to lose, and you should not invest in the Fund money to which you will need access in the short-term or on a frequent basis.

SHARE REPURCHASES

The Fund is a closed-end interval fund and, to provide limited liquidity and the ability to receive NAV on a disposition of at least a portion of your Shares, makes periodic offers to repurchase Shares. No shareholder will have the right to require the Fund to repurchase its Shares, except as permitted by the Fund's interval structure. No public market for Shares exists, and none is expected to develop in the future. Consequently, and regardless of how the Fund performs, shareholders generally will not be able to liquidate their investment other than as a result of repurchases of their Shares by the Fund, and then only on a limited basis.

The Fund has adopted a fundamental policy — which cannot be changed without shareholder approval — requiring it to offer to repurchase 5% of the Fund's outstanding Shares at NAV every six months, unless such offer is suspended or postponed in accordance with regulatory requirements (as discussed below). All requests to repurchases Shares must be submitted through the App, and exceptions will only be made where the App is experiencing a widespread outage or malfunction (as discussed below under "Submitting Repurchase Requests").

Repurchase Offer Dates and Notices

The Fund makes offers to repurchase its shares every six-months, with the Repurchase Request Deadlines — *i.e.*, the date by which shareholders wishing to tender Shares for repurchase must respond to the repurchase offer — occurring in February and August of each year. For each repurchase offer, the Fund will send, at least 21 days before the Repurchase Request Deadline, a written notice (which is currently expected to be sent through the App and/or by email, to the extent permitted by law and subject to rights shareholders may have to elect to receive certain reports and notices in paper) (the "**Repurchase Offer Notice**") to each shareholder setting forth, among other things:

- The percentage of outstanding Shares that the Fund is offering to repurchase (expected to be 5% for each repurchase offer);
- The Repurchase Request Deadline i.e., the date on which a shareholder's repurchase request is due;
- The date that will be used to determine the Fund's NAV applicable to the repurchase offer (the "Repurchase Pricing Date");
- The date by which the Fund will pay to shareholders the proceeds from their Shares accepted for repurchase;
- The NAV of the Shares as of a date no more than seven days before the date of the Repurchase Offer Notice;
- The procedures by which shareholders may tender their Shares and the right of shareholders to withdraw or modify their tenders before the Repurchase Request Deadline; and
- The circumstances in which the Fund may suspend or postpone the repurchase offer.

This notice may be included in a shareholder report or other Fund document.

Submitting Repurchase Requests

The App will provide instructions for submitting repurchase requests. All requests to repurchases Shares must be submitted through the App at or prior to the applicable Repurchase Request Deadline. <u>The Repurchase Request Deadline will be strictly observed</u>. If a shareholder fails to submit a repurchase request in good order by the Repurchase Request Deadline, the shareholder will be unable to liquidate Shares until a subsequent repurchase offer, and will have to resubmit a request in the next repurchase offer. Shareholders may withdraw or change a repurchase request with a proper instruction submitted to the Fund in good form at any point before the Repurchase Request Deadline.

While the App is intended to be the exclusive means through which repurchase requests may be submitted, the Fund will permit repurchase requests to be submitted manually during any period that the App is malfunctioning or otherwise experiencing a widespread outage. If you would like to submit a repurchase request but are unable to do so because the App is not working or is malfunctioning, please call us toll-free at 1-888-577-7987 for information about how you may submit your repurchase request outside the App.

Table of Contents

Determination of Repurchase Price and Payment for Shares

The Repurchase Pricing Date will occur no later than the 14th day after the Repurchase Request Deadline (or the next Business Day if the 14th day is not a Business Day). Payment for all Shares repurchased pursuant to these offers will be made not later than seven days after the Repurchase Pricing Date, and will typically be sent by electronic funds transfer to the bank account you have linked through the App (although we may ask you to confirm your bank account information through the App before sending any redemption proceeds).

The Fund's NAV per Share may change materially between the date a Repurchase Offer Notice is issued and the Repurchase Request Deadline, and it may also change materially between the Repurchase Request Deadline and Repurchase Pricing Date. The method by which the Fund calculates its NAV is discussed above under "Determination of Net Asset Value." During the period an offer to repurchase is open, shareholders may obtain more recent NAV information through the App.

Early Repurchase Fee (for those holding Shares less than 546 days)

If you tender Shares and the Fund repurchases those Shares within 545 days (approximately 18 months) following the purchase date, you will generally pay an early repurchase fee according to the following schedule:

Days after purchase	185	365	545	546 or more
Early repurchase fee	2.0%	1.5%	0.5%	0.0%

The early repurchase fee will be based on the value of the Shares redeemed and will be deducted from (and thus reduce) the repurchase proceeds. Shares held longest will be treated as being repurchased first, and Shares held shortest will be treated as repurchased last. The repurchase fee does not apply to Shares that were acquired through reinvestment of distributions. Shares held for more than 545 days are not subject to any repurchase fee.

Repurchase fees are paid to the Fund directly and are intended to offset costs related to the repurchase incurred by the Fund, directly or indirectly, as a result of repurchasing Shares. The Fund may modify the amount of a repurchase fee (but not increase it beyond 2.0%), or the time period for which a repurchase fee applies, at any time. In addition, the Fund may waive an early repurchase fee otherwise payable by a shareholder in circumstances where the Board determines that doing so is in the best interests of the Fund.

Suspension or Postponement of Repurchase Offers

The Fund may suspend or postpone a repurchase offer only: (a) if making or effecting the repurchase offer would cause the Fund to lose its status as a RIC under the Code; (b) for any period during which any market on which securities owned by the Fund are principally traded is closed, other than customary weekend and holiday closings, or during which trading in such market is restricted; (c) for any period during which an emergency exists as a result of which disposal by the Fund of securities owned by it is not reasonably practicable, or during which it is not reasonably practicable for the Fund fairly to determine the value of its net assets; or (d) for such other periods as the SEC may by order permit for the protection of Fund shareholders. Any such suspension would require the approval of a majority of the Board (including a majority of the trustees who are not "interested persons" of the Fund) in accordance with Rule 23c-3 of the Investment Company Act. The Fund does not presently expect any of the foregoing conditions to occur in its normal operations.

Oversubscribed Repurchase Offers

There is no minimum number of Shares that must be tendered before the Fund will honor repurchase requests. However, the Fund's Board will set for each repurchase offer a maximum percentage of Shares that may be repurchased by the Fund (expected to be 5% of the Fund's outstanding Shares for each repurchase offer). In the event a repurchase offer by the Fund is oversubscribed, the Fund may repurchase, but is not required to repurchase, additional Shares up to a maximum amount of 2% of the outstanding Shares of the Fund. If the Fund determines not to repurchase additional Shares beyond the repurchase offer amount, or if shareholders tender an amount of Shares

greater than that which the Fund is entitled to repurchase, the Fund will repurchase the Shares tendered on a *pro rata* basis.

If any Shares that you wish to tender to the Fund are not repurchased because of proration (*i.e.*, because the repurchase offer was oversubscribed), you will have to wait until the next repurchase offer and resubmit your repurchase request, and your repurchase request will not be given any priority over other shareholders' requests. Thus, there is a risk

40

Table of Contents

that the Fund may not purchase all of the Shares you wish to have repurchased in a given repurchase offer or in any subsequent repurchase offer. In anticipation of the possibility of proration, some shareholders may tender more Shares than they wish to have repurchased in a particular repurchase offer, increasing the likelihood of proration.

There is no assurance that you will be able to have your Shares repurchased when or in the amount that you desire.

Consequences of Repurchase Offers

From the time the Fund distributes or publishes a Repurchase Offer Notice until the Repurchase Pricing Date for that offer, the Fund must maintain liquid assets at least equal to the percentage of its Shares subject to the repurchase offer (expected to be 5%). The Fund may be required to liquidate investments, including at a time when it may not be advantageous to do so, in order to meet these liquidity requirements, which could cause the Fund to realize losses. The Fund is also permitted to borrow up to the maximum extent permitted under the Investment Company Act to meet repurchase requests.

If the Fund borrows to finance repurchases, interest on that borrowing will negatively affect shareholders who do not tender their Shares by increasing the Fund's expenses and reducing any net investment income. There is no assurance that the Fund will be able sell a significant amount of additional Shares so as to mitigate these effects.

Minimum Account Balance

If you tender some but not all of your Shares for repurchase, you will be required to maintain a minimum Fund account balance of \$500 after giving effect to the repurchase. If the value of your Fund account falls below \$500 as a result of you tendering a portion of your Shares for repurchase, the Fund may repurchase all of your remaining Shares at any time without notice and send you the proceeds. You may incur a tax liability as a result of the Fund repurchasing your Shares.

The Board may change this account minimum balance requirement from time to time, or waive this minimum in whole or in part.

41

Table of Contents

BORROWING

The Fund is permitted to borrow, which such borrowing, if any, the Fund anticipates would be used to satisfy requests from shareholders pursuant to the semiannual repurchase offers and otherwise to provide the Fund with temporary liquidity.

The amount that the Fund may borrow will be limited by the provisions of Section 18 of the Investment Company Act, which, among other limitations contained therein relating to the declaration of dividends or distributions, limits the issuance of a "senior security" (as defined in the Investment Company Act) to those instances where immediately after giving effect to such issuance, the Fund will have "net asset coverage" (as defined in the Investment Company) of at least 300%. If the Fund does borrow, interest on the amount borrowed by the Fund will be at prevailing market rates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Fund intends to limit its borrowing, if any, and the overall leverage of its portfolio to an amount that does not exceed 331/3% of the Fund's gross asset value.

DISTRIBUTIONS

Following the disposition by the Fund of securities of Portfolio Companies, or the receipt by the Fund of distribution proceeds from a Portfolio Fund, the Fund will make cash distributions of the net profits, if any, to shareholders (subject to the Fund's dividend reinvestment plan, as described below) once each fiscal year at such time as the Board determines in its sole discretion (or more often at such times determined by the Board, if necessary for the Fund to maintain its status as a RIC and in accordance with the Investment Company Act). The Fund intends to establish reasonable reserves to meet Fund obligations prior to making distributions.

42

Table of Contents

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

The Fund operates under a dividend reinvestment plan administered by the Fund's Administrator as dividend reinvestment agent. Pursuant to the plan, any distributions by the Fund to its shareholders, net of any applicable U.S. withholding tax, will be reinvested in Shares of the Fund.

Shareholders automatically participate in the dividend reinvestment plan, unless and until an election is made to withdraw from the plan on behalf of such participating shareholder. Shareholders who do not wish to have distributions automatically reinvested should so notify the Administrator in writing at Sweater Cashmere Fund c/o UMB Fund Services, Inc., PO Box 2175, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201-2175. Such written notice must be received by the Administrator at least 30 days prior to the record date of the distribution or the shareholder will receive such distribution in Shares through the dividend reinvestment plan. Under the dividend reinvestment plan, the Fund's distributions to shareholders are reinvested in full and fractional Shares as described below.

When the Fund declares a distribution, the Administrator, on the shareholder's behalf, will receive additional authorized Shares from the Fund. The number of Shares to be received when distributions are reinvested will be determined by dividing the amount of the distribution by the Fund's NAV per Share as of the date of such distribution.

The Administrator will maintain all shareholder accounts and furnish written confirmations of all transactions in the accounts, including information needed by shareholders for personal and tax records.

Neither the Administrator nor the Fund shall have any responsibility or liability beyond the exercise of ordinary care for any action taken or omitted pursuant to the dividend reinvestment plan, nor shall they have any duties, responsibilities or liabilities except such as expressly set forth herein. Neither shall they be liable hereunder for any act done in good faith or for any good faith omissions to act, including, without limitation, failure to terminate a participant's account prior to receipt of written notice of his or her death or with respect to prices at which Shares are purchased or sold for the participant's account and the terms on which such purchases and sales are made, subject to applicable provisions of the federal securities laws.

The automatic reinvestment of distributions will not relieve participants of any federal, state or local income tax that may be payable (or required to be withheld) on such distributions. See "Tax Matters" below for additional information.

The Fund reserves the right to amend or terminate the dividend reinvestment plan. There is no direct service charge to participants with regard to purchases under the dividend reinvestment plan; however, the Fund reserves the right to amend the dividend reinvestment plan to include a service charge payable by the participants.

All correspondence concerning the dividend reinvestment plan should be directed to, and additional information may be obtained from, the Administrator at Sweater Cashmere Fund c/o UMB Fund Services, Inc., PO Box 2175, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201-2175.

If you elect to receive dividends in cash (as described above), the Fund will typically transfer any Fund dividends through electronic funds transfer to the bank account you have linked to your Fund account through the App (although we may ask you to confirm your bank account information through the App before sending any cash dividends).

Table of Contents

DESCRIPTION OF THE FUND AND ITS SHARES

The Fund is a statutory trust organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Shares.

The Fund currently offers one class of Shares. All such Shares are equal as to dividends, assets and voting privileges and have no conversion, preemptive or other subscription rights. Except as permitted by the Fund's interval structure, no shareholders have the right to require repurchase of any Shares by the Fund or to tender Shares to the Fund for repurchase. See the section "Share Repurchases" above.

The Fund's Declaration of Trust provides that the Board may authorize one or more classes of Shares, with Shares of each such class or series having such preferences, voting powers, terms of repurchase, if any, and special or relative rights or privileges (including conversion rights, if any) as the Board may determine. The Board does not have current plans to offer additional classes of Fund Shares, but may in the future.

Each whole Share is entitled to one vote as to any matter on which it is entitled to vote, and each fractional share is entitled to a proportionate fractional vote.

The Fund may be terminated at any time by the action of a majority of the Trustees without shareholder vote or consent. Upon termination of the Fund, after paying or otherwise providing for all charges, taxes, expenses and liabilities, whether due or accrued or anticipated, of the Fund as may be determined by the Trustees, shareholders are entitled to share ratably in all remaining assets of the Fund (except to the extent otherwise required or permitted by the preferences and special or relative rights and privileges of the Shares).

The Fund's Declaration of Trust provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if that court does not have subject matter jurisdiction, the Superior Court of the State of Delaware, shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any suit, action or proceeding brought by or in the right of any Fund shareholder seeking to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of, or in connection with, the Fund's Declaration or the Trust, any series or class or any Shares, including any claim of any nature against the Fund or the Fund's Trustees or officers. The Fund's Declaration of Trust further provides that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the U.S. Federal District Courts will be the exclusive forum for causes of action arising under the federal securities laws (other than where the Fund consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum).

These exclusive forum provisions may increase costs for a Fund shareholder to bring a claim or may prevent a shareholder from bringing a claim in a judicial forum that the shareholder finds convenient or favorable. Further, the enforceability of the provision requiring actions under federal securities laws be brought in U.S. Federal District Courts is questionable. If a court were to find the forum selection provisions contained in the Declaration of Trust to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, the Fund may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions.

The Fund's Declaration of Trust also requires that a shareholder's right to a jury trial be waived to the fullest extent permitted by law in any suit, action, or proceeding brought in the Superior Court of the State of Delaware. This waiver of a jury trial may limit a shareholder's ability to litigate a claim in a manner that is more favorable to the shareholder.

The foregoing is intended only as a summary and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Fund's Declaration of Trust and Bylaws, each as amended, both of which are on file with the SEC.

44

Table of Contents

FUND EXPENSES

Fund Expenses

The Fund will pay all of its expenses and/or reimburse the Adviser or its affiliates to the extent they have previously paid such expenses on behalf of the Fund or have incurred expenses in connection with their management of the Fund.

In addition to the Management Fee paid by the Fund to the Adviser, Fund expenses include, but are not limited to: (i) interest and taxes related to the Fund's operations and purchase and sale of Fund assets; (ii) brokerage commissions and other transaction expenses in connection with the Fund's purchase and sale of assets; (iii) fees and expenses related to the formation of the Fund, the offering of the Fund's shares, including Fund marketing costs and expenses, and the admission of investors in the Fund; (iv) fees and expenses related to the formation and operation of any subsidiaries of the Fund; (v) fees and expenses related to the investigation and evaluation of Fund investment opportunities (whether or not consummated); (vi) fees and expense related to the acquisition, ownership, management, financing, hedging of interest rates on financings, or sale of portfolio investments; (vii) travel costs associated with investigating and evaluating investment opportunities (whether or not consummated) or making, monitoring, managing or disposing of portfolio investments; (viii) Fund costs of borrowings; (ix) costs of any third parties retained to provide services to the Fund, including costs and fees of the Fund's Administrator, Custodian, independent registered public accounting firm, and legal counsel; (x) premiums for fidelity and other insurance coverage requisite to the Fund's operations; (xi) fees and expenses of the Fund's Independent Trustees (including compensation of the Independent Trustees); (xii) legal, audit and fund accounting expenses; (xiii) custodian and transfer agent fees and expenses; (xiv) expenses incident to the repurchase of the Fund's shares; (xv) fees and expenses related to the registration under federal and state securities laws of Fund Shares; (xvi) expenses of printing and mailing Fund prospectuses, reports, notices and proxy material to shareholders of the Fund; (xvii) all other expenses incidental to holding meetings of the Fund's shareholders; and (xviii) such extraordinary non-recurring expenses as may arise, including litigation affecting the Fund and any obligation which the Fund may have to indemnify its officers and Trustees with respect thereto. The Fund may need to sell Fund investments to pay fees and expenses, which could cause the Fund to realize taxable gains.

As of March 31, 2023, the Fund incurred approximately \$221,600 in expenses in connection with the Fund's organization and approximately \$235,518 in offering expenses, and the Fund incurred additional organizational and offering expenses prior to its commencement of operations on April 14, 2022. The Fund's expenses incurred and to be incurred in connection with the initial offering of its Shares will be amortized by the Fund over the 12-month period beginning on the date the Fund first accepts outside investors. Thereafter, the Fund will also bear directly certain ongoing offering and marketing costs associated with its planned continuous Share offering, which will be expensed as they are incurred. Offering costs cannot be deducted by the Fund or by Fund shareholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The Fund's fees and expenses, which are substantial, will decrease the net profits or increase the net losses of the Fund.

The Adviser will bear all of its own ordinary and usual office overhead expenses (including expenses such as office rent) in connection with the Adviser's performance of its duties to the Fund, and the salaries or other compensation of the employees of the Adviser.

Expense Limitation Agreement

The Fund has entered into an Expense Limitation Agreement pursuant to which the Adviser has agreed to waive its Management Fee and/or reimburse Fund expenses to the extent necessary so that the Fund's total annual operating expenses (excluding any taxes, interest, brokerage commissions, acquired fund fees and expenses, and extraordinary expenses, such as litigation or reorganization costs, but inclusive of organizational costs and offering costs) ("Operating Expenses") do not exceed 5.90% of the Fund's average daily net assets.

The Adviser is entitled to seek reimbursement from the Fund of Management Fees waived and/or Fund expenses paid or reimbursed by the Adviser for a period ending three years after such waiver, payment or reimbursement, provided the repayments do not cause the Fund's Operating Expenses to exceed the expense limitation in place at the time the management fees were waived and/or the Fund expenses were paid or reimbursed, or any expense limitation in place at the time the Fund would repay the Adviser, whichever is lower.

This contractual expense limitation will remain in effect through August 15, 2024, unless terminated earlier by the Fund's Board upon not less than 30 days' written notice to the Adviser.

TAX MATTERS

The following is a brief summary of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to the Fund and to an investment in Fund Shares. This summary does not purport to be a complete description of the income tax considerations applicable to an investment in Shares. For example, we have not described tax consequences that may be relevant to certain types of holders subject to special treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws, including shareholders subject to the alternative minimum tax, tax-exempt organizations, insurance companies, dealers in securities, investors subject to Section 1061 of the Code, pension plans and trusts and financial institutions. This summary assumes that investors hold Fund Shares as capital assets (within the meaning of the Code). This summary is based on the Code, U.S. Treasury regulations and administrative and judicial interpretations, each as of the date of this prospectus and all of which are subject to change, possibly retroactively, which could affect the continuing validity of this summary. We have not sought and will not seek any ruling from the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") regarding this offering. This summary does not discuss any aspects of U.S. estate or gift tax or foreign, state or local tax. It does not discuss the special treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws that could result if we invested in tax-exempt securities or certain other investment assets.

A "U.S. shareholder" generally is a beneficial owner of Fund Shares who is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

- A citizen or individual resident of the United States:
- A corporation, or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or
 organized in or under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof;
- A trust, if a court in the United States has primary supervision over its administration and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all decisions of the trust, or the trust has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person; or
- An estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source.

A "non-U.S. shareholder" generally is a beneficial owner of Fund Shares that is not a U.S. shareholder.

If a partnership (including an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds Fund Shares, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. A prospective shareholder that is a partner in a partnership holding Shares should consult his, her or its tax advisers with respect to the purchase, ownership and disposition of Shares.

Tax matters are complicated and the tax consequences to an investor of an investment in Fund Shares will depend on the facts of his, her or its particular situation. We strongly encourage investors to consult their own tax advisers regarding the specific consequences of such an investment, including tax reporting requirements, the applicability of federal, state, local and foreign tax laws, eligibility for the benefits of any applicable tax treaty and the effect of any possible changes in the tax laws.

Taxation as a Registered Investment Company

The Fund intends to elect to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. As a RIC, the Fund would generally not be required to pay corporate-level U.S. federal income taxes on any ordinary income or capital gains that it distributes shareholders as dividends. To qualify as a RIC, the Fund must, among other things, meet certain source-of-income and asset diversification requirements (as described below). In addition, in order to obtain RIC tax benefits, the Fund must distribute to its shareholders, for each taxable year, at least 90% of its "investment company taxable income," which is generally Fund ordinary income plus the excess of realized net short-term capital gains over realized net long-term capital losses (the "Annual Distribution Requirement").

If the Fund:

- qualifies as a RIC; and
- satisfies the Annual Distribution Requirement,

then the Fund will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the portion of its income that it distributes (or is deemed to distribute) to Fund shareholders. The Fund will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the regular corporate rates on any income or capital gains not distributed (or deemed distributed) to shareholders.

Table of Contents

The Fund will be subject to a 4% nondeductible U.S. federal excise tax on certain undistributed income, unless the Fund distributes in a timely manner an amount at least equal to the sum of (i) 98% of the Fund's net ordinary income for each calendar year, (ii) 98.2% of the amount by which the Fund's capital gains exceed its capital losses (adjusted for certain ordinary losses) for the one-year period ending October 31 in that calendar year, and (iii) any income and gains recognized, but not distributed, from previous years on which the Fund paid no corporate-level U.S. federal income tax (the "Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement"). While the Fund intends to distribute any income and capital gains in order to avoid imposition of this 4% U.S. federal excise tax, the Fund may not be successful in avoiding entirely the imposition of this tax. In that case, the Fund will be liable for the tax only on the amount by which it does not meet the foregoing distribution requirement.

In order to qualify as a RIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Fund must, among other things:

- (i) derive in each taxable year at least 90% of its gross income from (a) dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stocks, securities or foreign currencies, or other income derived with respect to its business of investing in such stocks, securities or currencies, and (b) net income from interests in "qualified publicly traded partnerships" (as defined in the Code) (the "90% Income Test"); and
- (ii) diversify its holdings so that, at the end of each quarter of the taxable year,
- a. at least 50% of the value of the Fund's total assets is represented by cash and cash items (including receivables), U.S. government securities, the securities of other RICs and other securities, with such other securities of any one issuer limited for the purposes of this calculation to an amount not greater than 5% of the value of the Fund's total assets and not greater than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, and
- b. not more than 25% of the value of its total assets is invested in the securities (other than U.S. government securities or the securities of other RICs) of a single issuer, two or more issuers that the Fund controls and that are engaged in the same, similar or related trades or businesses or one or more "qualified publicly traded partnerships" (as defined in the Code) (the "Diversification Tests").

The Fund may be required to recognize taxable income in circumstances in which it does not receive cash. For example, if the Fund holds debt obligations that are treated under applicable tax rules as having original issue discount ("OID"), such as debt instruments with PIK interest or, in certain cases, increasing interest rates or issued with warrants, the Fund must include in income each year a portion of the OID that accrues over the life of the obligation, regardless of whether cash representing such income is received by us in the same taxable year. The Fund may also have to include in income other amounts that it has not yet received in cash, such as PIK interest and deferred loan origination fees that are paid after origination of the loan. Because any OID or other amounts accrued will be included in the Fund's investment company taxable income for the year of accrual, the Fund may be required to make a distribution to its shareholders in order to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement even though the Fund will not have received a corresponding cash payment. As a result, the Fund may have difficulty meeting the Annual Distribution Requirement necessary to qualify for and maintain RIC tax treatment under the Code. The Fund may have to sell some of its investments at times and/or at prices it would not consider advantageous, raise additional debt or equity capital or forgo new investment opportunities for this purpose. If the Fund is not able to obtain cash from other sources, the Fund may fail to qualify for RIC tax treatment and thus become subject to corporate-level income tax.

The Fund is authorized to borrow funds, to sell assets and to make taxable distributions of its stock and debt securities in order to satisfy distribution requirements, although it does not currently intend to do so. The Fund's ability to dispose of assets to meet its distribution requirements may be limited by (i) the illiquid nature of the Fund's portfolio

and/or (ii) other requirements relating to the Fund' status as a RIC, including the Diversification Tests. If the Fund disposes of assets in order to meet the Annual Distribution Requirement or the Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement, the Fund may make such dispositions at times that, from an investment standpoint, are not advantageous. If the Fund is unable to obtain cash from other sources to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement, the Fund may fail to qualify for tax treatment as a RIC and become subject to tax as an ordinary corporation.

47

Table of Contents

Under the Investment Company Act, the Fund is not permitted to make distributions to its shareholders while Fund debt obligations and other senior securities are outstanding unless certain "asset coverage" tests are met. If the Fund is prohibited from making distributions, it may fail to qualify for tax treatment as a RIC and become subject to tax as an ordinary corporation.

Certain Fund investment practices may be subject to special and complex U.S. federal income tax provisions that may, among other things: (i) disallow, suspend or otherwise limit the allowance of certain losses or deductions; (ii) convert long-term capital gain into short-term capital gain or ordinary income; (iii) convert an ordinary loss or a deduction into a capital loss (the deductibility of which is more limited); (iv) cause the Fund to recognize income or gain without a corresponding receipt of cash; (v) adversely affect the time as to when a purchase or sale of securities is deemed to occur; (vi) adversely alter the characterization of certain complex financial transactions; and (vii) produce income that will not be qualifying income for purposes of the 90% Income Test described above. The Adviser will monitor Fund transactions and may make certain tax decisions in order to mitigate the potential adverse effect of these provisions.

The Fund may invest a significant portion of its assets in Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds that are classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, the Fund may be required to recognize items of taxable income and gain prior to the time that the Fund receives corresponding cash distributions from a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund. In such case, the Fund might have to borrow money or dispose of investments, including interests in the Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Funds, when it is disadvantageous to do so in order to make the distributions required in order to maintain its status as a RIC and to avoid the imposition of a federal income or excise tax. Portfolio Companies and Portfolio Fund classified as partnerships for federal income tax purposes may generate income allocable to the Fund that is not qualifying income for purposes of the 90% Income Test described above. In order to meet the 90% Income Test, the Fund may structure its investments in a way potentially increasing the taxes imposed thereon or in respect thereof. Because the Fund may not have timely or complete information concerning the amount and sources of the income of such a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund until such income has been earned by the Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund or until a substantial amount of time thereafter, it may be difficult for the Fund to satisfy the 90% Income Test.

It may not always be clear how the asset diversification rules for RIC qualification will apply to the Fund's investments in Portfolio Companies or Portfolio Funds that are classified as partnerships for federal income tax purposes. In the event that the Fund believes that it is possible that it will fail the Diversification Tests at the end of any quarter of a taxable year, it may seek to take certain actions to avert this failure, including by acquiring additional investments to come into compliance with the Diversification Tests or by disposing of non-diversified assets. Although the Code affords the Fund the opportunity, in certain circumstances, to cure a failure to meet the asset diversification test, including by disposing of non-diversified assets within six months, there may be constraints on the Fund's ability to dispose of its interest in a Portfolio Company or Portfolio Fund that limit use of this cure period.

As a result of the considerations described in the preceding paragraphs, the Fund's intention to qualify and be eligible for treatment as a RIC can limit its ability to acquire or continue to hold positions in Portfolio Companies or Portfolio Funds that would otherwise be consistent with the Fund's investment strategy or could require the Fund to engage in transactions in which it would otherwise not engage, resulting in additional transaction costs and reducing the Fund's return to shareholders.

It is possible that the Fund may invest in non-U.S. entities treated as "passive foreign investment companies" ("PFICs") for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If the Fund acquires shares in a PFIC, the Fund may be subject to federal income tax on a portion of any "excess distribution" or gain from the disposition of such shares even if such income is distributed as a taxable dividend by the Fund to its shareholders. Additional charges in the nature of interest may be imposed on the Fund in respect of deferred taxes arising from any such excess distributions or gains. If the

Fund invests in a PFIC and elects to treat the PFIC as a "qualified electing fund" under the Code (a "QEF"), in lieu of the foregoing requirements, the Fund will be required to include in income each year our proportionate share of the ordinary earnings and net capital gain of the PFIC, even if such income is not distributed to the Fund. Alternatively, the Fund can elect to mark-to-market at the end of each taxable year Fund shares in a PFIC; in this case, the Fund will recognize as ordinary income any increase in the value of such shares, and as ordinary loss any decrease in such value to the extent it does not exceed prior increases included in Fund income. Under either election, the Fund may be required to recognize in a year income in excess of our distributions from PFICs and Fund proceeds from dispositions of PFIC stock during that year, and we must distribute such income to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement and the Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement.

48

Table of Contents

Although the Code generally provides that the income inclusions from a QEF will be "good income" for purposes of the 90% Income Test to the extent that the QEF distributes such income to the Fund in the same taxable year to which the income is included in Fund income, the Code does not specifically provide whether these income inclusions would be "good income" for this 90% Income Test if the Fund does not receive distributions from the QEF during such taxable year. The IRS and U.S. Treasury Department have issued regulations that provide that as long as the required income inclusion from a QEF is derived with respect to a RIC's business of investing in stocks, securities, or currencies, the amount will be treated as "good income" for purposes of the 90% Income Test, even if not distributed by the QEF. Therefore, based on these regulations, the Fund should not need to plan for distributions from a QEF to be assured the required income inclusions will be treated as "good income" for purposes of the 90% Income Test. Even though "good income" from a QEF may not be accompanied by a corresponding distribution, the Fund would still be required to take such an income inclusion into account in determining the amount the Fund must distribute in order to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement and Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement.

If the Fund holds more than 10% of the shares in a foreign corporation that is treated as a controlled foreign corporation ("CFC"), the Fund may be treated as receiving a deemed distribution (taxable as ordinary income) each year from such foreign corporation in an amount equal to our pro rata share of the corporation's income for the tax year (including both ordinary earnings and capital gains), whether or not the corporation makes an actual distribution during such year. This deemed distribution is required to be included in the income of a U.S. Holder of a CFC regardless of whether the shareholder has made a QEF election with respect to such CFC. In general, a foreign corporation will be classified as a CFC if more than 50% of the shares of the corporation, measured by reference to combined voting power or value, is owned (directly, indirectly or by attribution) by U.S. Holders. A "U.S. Holder," for this purpose, is any U.S. person that possesses (actually or constructively) 10% or more of the combined voting power of all classes of shares of a corporation or 10% of the value of such corporation. The IRS and U.S. Treasury Department have issued regulations that provide that as long as the required income inclusion from a CFC is derived with respect to a RIC's business of investing in stocks, securities, or currencies, the amount will be treated as "good income" for purposes of the 90% Income Test, even if not distributed by the CFC. If the Fund is treated as receiving a deemed distribution from a CFC (which will be treated as "good income" for purposes of the 90% Income Test), the Fund will be required to include such distribution in its investment company taxable income regardless of whether the Fund receives any actual distributions from such CFC, and the Fund must distribute such income to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement and the Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses realized by the Fund in connection with certain transactions involving non-dollar debt securities, certain foreign currency futures contracts, foreign currency option contracts, foreign currency forward contracts, foreign currencies, or payables or receivables denominated in a foreign currency are subject to Code provisions that generally treat such gains and losses as ordinary income and losses and may affect the amount, timing and character of distributions to Fund shareholders. Any such transactions that are not directly related to the Fund's investment in securities (possibly including speculative currency positions or currency derivatives not used for hedging purposes) could, under future U.S. Treasury regulations, produce income not among the types of "qualifying income" from which a RIC must derive at least 90% of its annual gross income.

The remainder of this discussion assumes that the Fund qualifies as a RIC and has satisfied the Annual Distribution Requirement.

Taxation of U.S. Shareholders

Fund distributions generally are taxable to U.S. shareholders as either dividend income or capital gains. Distributions of Fund "investment company taxable income" (which is, generally, Fund net ordinary income plus realized net short-term capital gains in excess of realized net long-term capital losses) generally will be taxable as dividend income to U.S. shareholders to the extent of the Fund's current or accumulated earnings and profits, whether paid in cash or reinvested in additional Shares. Distributions of Fund net capital gains (which is generally Fund realized net long-term capital gains in excess of realized net short-term capital losses) properly designated by the Fund as "capital gain dividends" will be taxable to a U.S. shareholder as long-term capital gains that are currently taxable at a current maximum rate of 20% in the case of individuals, trusts or estates, regardless of the U.S. shareholder's holding period for his, her or its Shares and regardless of whether paid in cash or reinvested in additional Shares. Distributions in excess of the Fund's earnings and profits first will reduce a U.S. shareholder's adjusted tax basis in such shareholder's Shares and, after the adjusted basis is reduced to zero, will constitute capital gains to the U.S. shareholder.

49

Table of Contents

The Fund may elect to retain any net capital gains or a portion thereof for investment and be subject to tax at corporate rates on the amount retained. In such case, the Fund may designate the retained amount as undistributed net capital gains in a notice to Fund shareholders who will be treated as if each shareholder received a distribution of the pro rata share of such net capital gain, with the result that each shareholder will: (i) be required to report the pro rata share of such net capital gain on the applicable tax return as long-term capital gains; (ii) receive a refundable tax credit for the pro rata share of tax paid by the Fund on the net capital gain; and (iii) increase the tax basis for Fund Shares held by an amount equal to the deemed distribution less the tax credit.

The Fund does not expect that special share distributions that it pays ratably to all investors from time to time, if any, will be taxable. However, in the future, the Fund may distribute taxable dividends that are payable in cash or shares of our common stock at the election of each shareholder. Under certain applicable provisions of the Code and the U.S. Treasury regulations, distributions payable in cash or in shares of stock at the election of shareholders are treated as taxable dividends whether a shareholder elects to receive cash or shares. The IRS has issued private rulings indicating that this rule will apply even where the total amount of cash that may be distributed is limited to no more than 20% of the total distribution. Under these rulings, if too many shareholders elect to receive their distributions in cash, each such shareholder would receive a pro rata share of the total cash to be distributed and would receive the remainder of their distribution in shares of stock. If the Fund decides to make any distributions consistent with these rulings that are payable in part in Fund stock, taxable shareholders receiving such dividends will be required to include the full amount of the dividend (whether received in cash, our stock, or a combination thereof) as ordinary income (or as long-term capital gain to the extent such distribution is properly reported as a capital gain dividend) to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits for United States federal income tax purposes. As a result, a U.S. shareholder may be required to pay tax with respect to such dividends in excess of any cash received. If a U.S. shareholder sells the Shares it receives as a dividend in order to pay this tax, the sales proceeds may be less than the amount included in income with respect to the dividend, depending on the market price of our stock at the time of the sale.

For purposes of determining (1) whether the Annual Distribution Requirement is satisfied for any year and (2) the amount of dividends paid for that year, the Fund may, under certain circumstances, elect to treat a dividend that is paid during the following taxable year as if it had been paid during the taxable year in question. If the Fund makes such an election, the U.S. shareholder will still be treated as receiving the dividend in the taxable year in which the distribution is made. However, any dividend declared by the Fund in October, November or December of any calendar year, payable to shareholders of record on a specified date in such a month and actually paid during January of the following year, will be treated as if it had been received by the Fund's U.S. shareholders on December 31 of the year in which the dividend was declared.

If an investor purchases Shares shortly before the record date of a distribution, the price of the Shares may include the value of the distribution, in which case the investor will be subject to tax on the distribution even though economically it may represent a return of his, her or its investment.

The Fund will inform shareholders of the source and tax status of all distributions promptly after the close of each calendar year.

A U.S. shareholder generally will recognize taxable gain or loss if the shareholder sells or otherwise disposes of his, her or its Shares. The amount of gain or loss will be measured by the difference between such shareholder's adjusted tax basis in the Shares sold and the amount of the proceeds received in exchange. Any gain arising from such sale or disposition generally will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the shareholder has held his, her or its Shares for more than one year. Otherwise, it will be classified as short-term capital gain or loss. However, any capital loss arising from the sale or disposition of Shares held for six months or less will be treated as long-term capital loss to the extent of the amount of capital gain dividends received, or undistributed capital gain deemed received, with respect to such Shares. In addition, all or a portion of any loss recognized upon a disposition of Shares may be disallowed if other Shares are purchased (whether through reinvestment of distributions or otherwise) within 30 days before or after the disposition. See "Income from Repurchases of Shares — U.S. Shareholders" below for additional information.

A 3.8% tax is imposed under Section 1411 of the Code on the "net investment income" of certain U.S. citizens and residents and on the undistributed net investment income of certain estates and trusts. Among other items, net investment income generally includes payments of dividends on, and net gains recognized from the sale, exchange,

50

Table of Contents

redemption, retirement or other taxable disposition of Shares (unless the Shares are held in connection with certain trades or businesses), less certain deductions. Prospective investors in Fund Shares should consult their own tax advisors regarding the effect, if any, of this tax on their ownership and disposition of Shares.

To the extent the Fund is not treated as a "publicly offered regulated investment company" within the meaning of Section 67(c)(2) of the Code and the Treasury regulations issued thereunder, certain "affected investors" would be unable deduct, for federal income tax purposes, their allocable share of the Fund's "affected RIC expenses." To be treated as a "publicly offered regulated investment company" for this purpose, Fund Shares would need to be (i) continuously offered pursuant to a public offering, (ii) regularly traded on an established securities market, and (iii) held by at least 500 shareholders at all times during the applicable taxable year. Investors that would be subject to the deductibility limitations under these rules include shareholders that are (i) individuals (other than nonresident aliens whose do not treat income from us as effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business), (ii) persons such as trusts or estates that compute their income in the same manner as an individual, (iii) and pass-through entities that have one or more partners or members that are described in clauses (i) or (ii). Under temporary U.S. Treasury regulations, such "affected RIC expenses" include those expenses allowed as a deduction in determining our investment company taxable income, less (among other items) registration fees, trustees' fees, transfer agent fees, certain legal and accounting fees and expenses associated with legally required shareholders communications. Shareholders that would be treated as "affected investors" should consult their own tax advisors concerning the applicability such rules to their investment in Fund Shares.

The Fund may be required to withhold federal income tax, or backup withholding from all distributions to any non-corporate U.S. shareholder (1) who fails to furnish us with a correct taxpayer identification number or a certificate that such shareholder is exempt from backup withholding or (2) with respect to whom the IRS notifies us that such shareholder has failed to properly report certain interest and dividend income to the IRS and to respond to notices to that effect. An individual's taxpayer identification number is his or her social security number. Any amount withheld under backup withholding is allowed as a credit against the U.S. shareholder's federal income tax liability, provided that proper information is provided to the IRS.

Taxation of non-U.S. Shareholders

Whether an investment in Fund Shares is appropriate for a non-U.S. shareholder will depend upon that person's particular circumstances. An investment in Fund Shares by a non-U.S. shareholder may have adverse tax consequences. Non-U.S. shareholders should consult their tax advisers before investing in Shares.

Distributions of Fund investment company taxable income to non-U.S. shareholders (including interest income and realized net short-term capital gains in excess of realized long-term capital losses, which generally would be free of

withholding if paid to non-U.S. shareholders directly) will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax at a 30% rate (or lower rate provided by an applicable treaty) to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits unless an applicable exception applies. If the distributions are effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. shareholder, and, if an income tax treaty applies, attributable to a permanent establishment in the United States, the Fund will not be required to withhold U.S. federal tax if the non-U.S. shareholder complies with applicable certification and disclosure requirements, although the distributions will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the rates applicable to U.S. persons. (Special certification requirements apply to a non-U.S. shareholder that is a foreign partnership or a foreign trust, and such entities are urged to consult their own tax advisers.)

In addition, with respect to certain distributions made by RICs to non-U.S. shareholders, no withholding is required and the distributions generally are not subject to U.S. federal income tax if (i) the distributions are properly designated in a notice timely delivered to shareholders as "interest-related dividends" or "short-term capital gain dividends," (ii) the distributions are derived from sources specified in the Code for such dividends, and (iii) certain other requirements are satisfied. Depending on the circumstances, the Fund may designate all, some or none of our potentially eligible dividends as derived from such qualified net interest income or as qualified short-term capital gain, and a portion of our distributions, which may be significant (e.g., interest from non-U.S. sources or any foreign currency gains) would be ineligible for this potential exemption from withholding. Moreover, in the case of Fund Shares held through an intermediary, the intermediary may have withheld U.S. federal income tax even if the Fund designated the payment as derived from such qualified net interest income or qualified short-term capital gain. Hence, no assurance can be provided as to whether any amount of Fund dividends or distributions will be eligible for this exemption from withholding or if eligible, will be reported as such by the Fund.

51

Table of Contents

Actual or deemed distributions of Fund net capital gains to a non-U.S. shareholder, and gains realized by a non-U.S. shareholder upon the sale of Shares, will not be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax and generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless (i) the distributions or gains, as the case may be, are effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. shareholder and, if an income tax treaty applies, are attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by the non-U.S. shareholder in the United States, or (ii) such non-U.S. shareholder is an individual present in the United States for 183 days or more during the year of the distribution or gain.

If the Fund distributes its net capital gains in the form of deemed rather than actual distributions, a non-U.S. shareholder will be entitled to a U.S. federal income tax credit or tax refund equal to the shareholder's allocable share of the tax we pay on the capital gains deemed to have been distributed. In order to obtain the refund, the non-U.S. shareholder must obtain a U.S. taxpayer identification number and file a federal income tax return even if the non-U.S. shareholder would not otherwise be required to obtain a U.S. taxpayer identification number or file a federal income tax return. For a corporate non-U.S. shareholder, distributions (both actual and deemed) and gains realized upon the sale of Shares that are effectively connected to a U.S. trade or business may, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional "branch profits tax" at a 30% rate (or at a lower rate if provided for by an applicable treaty). Accordingly, investment in Fund Shares may not be appropriate for a non-U.S. shareholder.

A non-U.S. shareholder who is a non-resident alien individual, and who is otherwise subject to U.S. federal withholding tax, may be subject to information reporting and backup withholding of U.S. federal income tax on dividends unless the non-U.S. shareholder provides the Fund or the dividend paying agent with an IRS Form W-8BEN (or an acceptable substitute form) or otherwise meets documentary evidence requirements for establishing that it is a non-U.S. shareholder or otherwise establishes an exemption from backup withholding.

Legislation commonly referred to as the "Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act," or "FATCA," generally imposes a 30% withholding tax on payments of certain types of income to foreign financial institutions ("FFIs") unless such FFIs either (i) enter into an agreement with the U.S. Treasury to report certain required information with respect to accounts held by U.S. persons (or held by foreign entities that have U.S. persons as substantial owners) or (ii) reside in a jurisdiction that has entered into an intergovernmental agreement ("IGA") with the United States to collect and share such information and are in compliance with the terms of such IGA and any enabling legislation or regulations. The types of income subject to the tax include U.S. source interest and dividends. The information required to be reported includes the identity and taxpayer identification number of each account holder that is a U.S. person and

certain transaction activity related to such holder's account. In addition, subject to certain exceptions, this legislation also imposes a 30% withholding on payments to foreign entities that are not FFIs unless the foreign entity certifies that it does not have a greater than 10% U.S. owner or provides the withholding agent with identifying information on each greater than 10% U.S. owner. Depending on the status of a beneficial owner and the status of the intermediaries through which they hold their Shares, beneficial owners could be subject to this 30% withholding tax with respect to dividends paid in respect of Shares. Under certain circumstances, a beneficial owner might be eligible for refunds or credits of such taxes.

Non-U.S. persons should consult their own tax advisers with respect to the U.S. federal income tax and withholding tax, and state, local and foreign tax consequences of an investment in Fund Shares.

Income from Repurchases of Shares — U.S. Shareholders

Generally

A U.S. shareholder who participates in a repurchase of Shares will, depending on such U.S. shareholder's particular circumstances, and as set forth further under "Sale or Exchange Treatment" and "Distribution Treatment," be treated either as recognizing gain or loss from the disposition of its Shares or as receiving a distribution from the Fund with respect to its Shares. Under each of these approaches, a U.S. shareholder's realized income and gain (if any) would be calculated differently. Under the "sale or exchange" approach, a U.S. Shareholder generally would be allowed to recognize a taxable loss (if the repurchase proceeds are less than the U.S. shareholder's adjusted tax basis in the Shares tendered and repurchased).

52

Table of Contents

Sale or Exchange Treatment

Generally, the tender and repurchase of the Fund's Shares should be treated as a sale or exchange of the Shares by a U.S. shareholder if the receipt of cash:

- results in a "complete termination" of such U.S. shareholder's ownership of Shares in the Fund;
- results in a "substantially disproportionate" redemption with respect to such U.S. shareholder; or
- is "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" with respect to the U.S. shareholder.

In applying each of the tests described above, a U.S. Shareholder must take account of Shares that the U.S. shareholder constructively owns under detailed attribution rules set forth in the Code, which generally treat the U.S. shareholder as owning Shares owned by certain related individuals and entities, and Shares that the U.S. shareholder has the right to acquire by exercise of an option, warrant or right of conversion. U.S. shareholders should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of the constructive ownership rules to their particular circumstances.

A sale of Fund Shares pursuant to a repurchase of Shares by the Fund generally will result in a "complete termination" if either (i) the U.S. shareholder owns none of the Fund's Shares, either actually or constructively, after the Shares are sold pursuant to a repurchase, or (ii) the U.S. shareholder does not actually own any of the Fund's Shares immediately after the sale of Shares pursuant to a repurchase and, with respect to Shares constructively owned, is eligible to waive, and effectively waives, constructive ownership of all such Shares. U.S. shareholders desiring to satisfy the "complete termination" test through waiver of attribution should consult their tax advisors.

A sale of Shares pursuant to a repurchase of Shares by the Fund will result in a "substantially disproportionate" redemption with respect to a U.S. shareholder if the percentage of the then outstanding Shares actually and constructively owned by the U.S. shareholder immediately after the sale is less than 80% of the percentage of the Shares actually and constructively owned by the U.S. shareholder immediately before the sale. If a sale of Shares pursuant to a repurchase fails to satisfy the "substantially disproportionate" test, the U.S. shareholder may nonetheless satisfy the "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" test.

A sale of Shares pursuant to a repurchase of Shares by the Fund will satisfy the "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" test if it results in a "meaningful reduction" of the U.S. shareholder's proportionate interest in the Fund. A sale of Shares that actually reduces the percentage of the Fund's outstanding Shares owned, including constructively, by the shareholder would likely be treated as a "meaningful reduction" even if the percentage reduction is relatively minor, provided that the U.S. shareholder's relative interest in Shares of the Fund is minimal (e.g., less than 1%) and the U.S. shareholder does not exercise any control over or participate in the management of the Fund's corporate affairs. Any person that has an ownership position that allows some exercise of control over or participation in the management of corporate affairs of the Fund will not satisfy the meaningful reduction test unless that person's ability to exercise control over or participate in management of corporate affairs is materially reduced or eliminated.

Substantially contemporaneous dispositions or acquisitions of Fund Shares by a U.S. shareholder or a related person that are part of a plan viewed as an integrated transaction with a repurchase of Shares may be taken into account in determining whether any of the tests described above are satisfied.

If a U.S. shareholder satisfies any of the tests described above, the U.S. shareholder will recognize gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between the amount of cash received and such U.S. shareholder's tax basis in the repurchased Shares. Any such gain or loss will be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the holding period of the Shares exceeds one year as of the date of the repurchase. Specified limitations apply to the deductibility of capital losses by U.S. shareholders. However, if a U.S. shareholder's tendered and repurchased Shares have previously paid a long-term capital gain distribution (including, for this purpose, amounts credited as an undistributed capital gain) and those Shares were held for six months or less, any loss realized will be treated as a long-term capital loss to the extent that it offsets the long-term capital gain distribution.

Any loss realized on a sale or exchange will be disallowed to the extent the Shares disposed of are replaced within a 61-day period beginning 30 days before and ending 30 days after the disposition of the Shares. In such a case, the basis of the Shares acquired will be increased to reflect the disallowed loss.

53

Table of Contents

Distribution Treatment

If a U.S. shareholder does not satisfy any of the tests described above, and therefore does not qualify for sale or exchange treatment, the U.S. shareholder may be treated as having received, in whole or in part, a taxable dividend, a tax-free return of capital or taxable capital gain, depending on (i) whether the Fund has sufficient earnings and profits to support a dividend and (ii) the U.S. shareholder's tax basis in the relevant Shares. The amount of any distribution in excess of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits, if any, would be treated as a non-taxable return of investment to the extent, generally, of the U.S. shareholder's basis in the Shares remaining. If the portion not treated as a dividend exceeds the U.S. shareholder's basis in the Shares remaining, any such excess will be treated as capital gain from the sale or exchange of the remaining Shares. Any such gain will be capital gain and will be long-term capital gain if the holding period of the Shares exceeds one year as of the date of the exchange. If the tendering U.S. shareholder's tax basis in the Shares tendered and repurchased exceeds the total of any dividend and return of capital distribution with respect to those Shares, the excess amount of basis from the tendered and repurchased Shares will be reallocated pro rata among the bases of such U.S. shareholder's remaining Shares.

Provided certain holding period and other requirements are satisfied, certain non-corporate U.S. shareholders generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at a maximum rate of 20% on amounts treated as a dividend. This reduced rate will apply to: (i) 100% of the dividend if 95% or more of the Fund's gross income (ignoring gains attributable to the sale of stocks and securities except to the extent net short-term capital gain from such sales exceeds net long-term capital loss from such sales) in that taxable year is attributable to qualified dividend income; or (ii) the portion of the dividends paid by the Fund to an individual in a particular taxable year that is attributable to qualified dividend income received by the Fund this year if such qualified dividend income accounts for less than 95% of the Fund's gross income (ignoring gains attributable to the sale of stocks and securities except to the extent net short-term capital gains from such sales exceeds net long-term capital loss from such sales) for that taxable year. Such a dividend will be taxed in its entirety, without reduction for the U.S. shareholder's tax basis of the repurchased Shares. To the extent that a tender and repurchase of a U.S. shareholder's Shares is treated as the receipt by the shareholder of a

dividend, the shareholder's remaining adjusted basis (reduced by the amount, if any, treated as a return of capital) in the tendered and repurchased Shares will be added to any Shares retained by the shareholder.

To the extent that cash received in exchange for Shares is treated as a dividend to a corporate U.S. shareholder: (i) it may be eligible for a dividends-received deduction to the extent attributable to dividends received by the Fund from domestic corporations, and (ii) it may be subject to the "extraordinary dividend" provisions of the Code. Corporate U.S. shareholders should consult their tax advisors concerning the availability of the dividends-received deduction and the application of the "extraordinary dividend" provisions of the Code in their particular circumstances. No portion of any dividend is expected to be eligible for the dividends received deduction.

If the sale of Shares pursuant to a repurchase of Shares by the Fund is treated as a dividend to a U.S. shareholder rather than as an exchange, the other Fund shareholders, including any non-tendering shareholders, could be deemed to have received a taxable stock distribution if such shareholder's interest in the Fund increases as a result of the repurchase. This deemed dividend would be treated as a dividend to the extent of current or accumulated earnings and profits allocable to it. A proportionate increase in a U.S. shareholder's interest in the Fund will not be treated as a taxable distribution of Shares if the distribution qualifies as an isolated redemption of Shares as described in Treasury regulations. All shareholders are urged to consult with their tax advisors about the possibility of deemed distributions resulting from a repurchase of Shares by the Fund.

Failure to Qualify as a RIC

If the Fund fails to qualify for tax treatment as a RIC, and certain amelioration provisions are not applicable, the Fund would be subject to tax on all of its taxable income (including its net capital gains) at regular corporate rates. The Fund would not be able to deduct distributions to its shareholders, nor would such distributions be required. Distributions, including distributions of net long-term capital gain, would generally be taxable to Fund shareholders as ordinary dividend income to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits. Subject to certain limitations under the Code, the Fund's corporate shareholders would be eligible to claim a

54

Table of Contents

dividend received deduction with respect to such dividend; the Fund's non-corporate shareholders would generally be able to treat such dividends as "qualified dividend income," which is subject to reduced rates of U.S. federal income tax. Distributions in excess of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits would be treated first as a return of capital to the extent of the shareholder's tax basis, and any remaining distributions would be treated as a capital gain. In order to requalify as a RIC, in addition to the other requirements discussed above, the Fund would be required to distribute all of its previously undistributed earnings attributable to the period that the Fund failed to qualify as a RIC by the end of the first year that the Fund intends to requalify as a RIC. If the Fund fails to requalify as a RIC for a period greater than two taxable years, the Fund may be subject to regular corporate-level U.S. federal income tax on any net built-in gains with respect to certain of its assets (*i.e.*, the excess of the aggregate gains, including items of income, over aggregate losses that would have been realized with respect to such assets if we had been liquidated) that the Fund elects to recognize on requalification or when recognized over the next five years.

55

Table of Contents

CERTAIN ERISA MATTERS

Because the Fund is registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act, the Fund's assets will not be considered to be "plan assets" under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), and neither the Adviser nor the Trustees will be considered fiduciaries of any shareholder under ERISA.

CERTAIN FUND SERVICE PROVIDERS

Administrator

The Fund has entered into an Administration and Fund Accounting Agreement with UMB Fund Services, Inc. (the Administrator) under which the Administrator performs certain administration and accounting services for the Fund, including, among other things: customary fund accounting services (including computing the Fund's NAV) and assisting the Fund with regulatory filings, tax compliance and other oversight activities. The Administrator also serves as the Fund's dividend reinvestment agent pursuant to the Fund's dividend reinvestment plan. See "Dividend Reinvestment Plan" above.

For its fund accounting, regulatory and legal administrative services, and tax preparation, compliance and reporting services, the Fund pays the Administrator a fee equal to 0.115% on the first \$100 million in Fund assets, 0.100% on the next \$100 million in Fund assets, 0.085% on the next \$100 million in Fund assets, and 0.065% on Fund assets over \$300 million, subject to certain annual caps and minimum payments, as well as certain other fixed, per-filing and transactional fees. The Fund also reimburses the Administrator for certain out-of-pocket expenses and pays the Administrator a fee for transfer agency services. The Administrator is paid out of the assets of the Fund, and therefore these fees and expenses will decrease the net profits or increases the net losses of the Fund. The fees paid to the Administrator and the other terms of the Administration and Fund Accounting Agreement may change from time to time as may be agreed to by the Fund and the Administrator.

The Administrator's principal business address is 235 West Galena Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53212.

Custodian

UMB Bank, N.A. serves as the custodian of the assets of the Fund and may maintain custody of such assets with U.S. and non-U.S. sub-custodians (which may be banks and trust companies), securities depositories and clearing agencies in accordance with the requirements of Section 17(f) of the Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder. Assets of the Fund are not held by the Adviser or commingled with the assets of other accounts other than to the extent that securities are held in the name of the UMB Bank, N.A. or U.S. or non-U.S. sub-custodians in a securities depository, clearing agency or omnibus customer account of such custodian. UMB Bank, N.A.'s principal business address is 928 Grand Blvd., 10th Floor Kansas City, Missouri 64106.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

RSM US LLP, located at 555 17th St., Suite 1200, Denver, Colorado 80202, is the Fund's independent registered public accounting firm.

Legal Counsel

Greenberg Traurig, LLP, located at 77 West Wacker Drive, Suite 3100, Chicago, Illinois 60601, acts as legal counsel to the Fund and to the Adviser.

56

Table of Contents

PRIVACY NOTICE

This Privacy Notice of Sweater Cashmere Fund (the "Fund") applies only to investors, or their legal representatives, who are individuals and to certain entities that are essentially "alter egos" of individuals (e.g., revocable grantor trusts, individual retirement accounts or certain estate planning vehicles) that are investing in the Fund primarily for personal, family, or household purposes.

Our Commitment to Your Privacy: We are sensitive to the privacy concerns of our investors. We have a policy of protecting the confidentiality and security of information we collect about you. We are providing you with this notice to help you better understand why and how we collect certain personal information, the care with which we treat that information, and how we use that information.

"Non-public personal information" is nonpublic information about you that we obtain in connection with providing a financial product or service to you.

Sources of Non-Public Information: We collect non-public personal information about you from the following sources:

- Information we receive from you on applications or other forms, including information you submit through the Sweater mobile application (the "App") in connection with opening and funding a Fund account. This information includes your name, address, social security number or tax identification number, email address, citizenship and residency information, bank account information, and other household information.
- Information about your transactions with us, such as your Fund account balance and transaction history.
- Information captured on the Fund's website and through the App, including registration information and any information captured via "cookies."

Disclosure of Information: We do not disclose any non-public personal information about you to anyone, except as permitted or required by law or regulation and to our affiliates and service providers, including, but not limited to, the Fund's investment adviser, administrator, transfer agent, vendors engaged to assist the Fund in fulfilling its antimoney laundering and know-your-customer policies and procedures with respect to current and potential Fund investors, and/or consultants. All such companies are contractually or legally obligated to keep the information that we provide to them confidential, and use the information only to provide the services that we have asked them to perform for you and us.

We may also share your non-public personal information with other entities for the following purposes, including among others:

- To respond to a subpoena or court order, judicial process or regulatory inquiry;
- To report suspicious transactions to government agencies and law enforcement officials;
- To protect against fraud; or
- To provide products and services with the consent or direction of the customer.

Except as described above, and except for information we provide to non-affiliated third parties as otherwise required or permitted by law, we do not share non-public information about you with non-affiliated third parties.

Former Investors: We maintain non-public personal information of our former Fund investors and apply the same policies that apply to current Fund investors.

Information Security: We consider the protection of sensitive information to be a sound business practice, and to that end we employ physical, electronic and procedural safeguards to protect your non-public personal information in our possession or under our control.

Further Information: We reserve the right to change our privacy policies and this Privacy Notice at any time. The examples contained in this notice are illustrations only and are not intended to be exclusive. If you have any questions about this Privacy Notice, please contact us at support@sweaterventures.com.